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Chairman’s Statement

ERHE

To all shareholders:

On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors (the "Directors”) of Wah Wo
Holdings Group Limited (the “Company”), | am pleased to present the annual
results of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively the “Group”) for the
year ended 31 March 2021 (the “Year").

On 17 January 2020 (the "Listing Date"), the shares of the Company (the
"Shares”) were successfully listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) (the “Listing”), marking an
important milestone of the Group and laying a solid foundation for our future
development.

The Group is a Hong Kong-based contractor engaged in facade works, which
mainly include windows, window wall system, curtain wall system and other
facade members. We principally provide design and build services for new
buildings and renovation services for built premises.

During the Year, the Group recorded a total revenue of HK$350.8 million,
representing an increase of approximately 43% as compared to approximately
HK$245.5 million for the year ended 31 March 2020. Nevertheless, the gross
profit of approximately HK$21.4 million reported for the Year was lower than
the gross profit of approximately HK$60.9 million for the year ended 31 March
2020. Such decrease in gross profit was mainly due to (i) additional costs paid
to suppliers to increase production capacity and catch up with the schedule
of the Group's on-going projects and (i) increase in subcontracting costs for
the on-going projects as a result of unstable project schedules during novel
coronavirus (the “COVID-19").

During the Year, the COVID-19 outbreak and various epidemic prevention
measures taken by the governments have severely affected the global
economy, including Hong Kong's construction industry. Looking into the
future, the Group believes that Hong Kong's economy and construction
industry will gradually recover under a more stabilised COVID-19 situation. The
Government of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region have actively
creating opportunities of stabilised situation by implementing more effective
epidemic prevention measures, such as vaccination, to the citizens.
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Nonetheless, certain raw materials prices increase rapidly after the Year, which
will increase our costs and the gross profit margins of certain projects will be
affected. While it is expected that the above situation is likely to persist, the
Group will continue to keep a close watch on the raw materials prices, and will
take any appropriate measures to reduce the risks and impact on the project
costs.

Regardless of the near-term challenges and uncertainty in the industry, we will
remain focused on our long-term goals and continue to actively explore and
consider any suitable development opportunities in the industry that can
broaden our revenue base and are beneficial to the Group and its
shareholders as a whole.

On behalf of the Board, | would like to take this opportunity to convey our
heartfelt gratitude to our committed staff and Directors for their dedication
and contributions. | also wish to express our sincere appreciation to our
distinguished shareholders, customers, suppliers, business partners and
management team for their continuous support and trust.

On behalf of the Board

Mr. Chen Yuet Wa
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Hong Kong, 28 June 2021
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Management Discussion and Analysis

THEEFWRRAS

BUSINESS REVIEW AND OUTLOOK

The Group is an established contractor engaged in facade works with a focus
on window in Hong Kong. Facade works can be classified into window,
window wall system, curtain wall system and other facade members. We
principally provide design and build services for new buildings and renovation
services for built premises and trading of tools and equipment. Our services
generally include developing designs, conducting structural calculations and
preparing shop drawings, as well as management and coordination of various
aspects of a project which involve procurement of building materials from
material suppliers and/or subcontracting of installation works to our
subcontractors, on-site project management and post-project completion
and maintenance services.

Our design and build services are typically conducted on new buildings and
involve the installation of windows and other facade components such as
metal doors, louvres, balustrades, grilles and canopy (referred to as “design
and build projects”). Our renovation services on the other hand are typically
conducted on built premises and usually involve the repair, replacement,
upgrade or maintenance of windows, metal doors and other facade
components (referred to as “renovation projects’). We provide design and
build services and renovation services for different types of buildings,
including residential apartments, commercial buildings, retail premises,
universities and hotels in Hong Kong.

As at 31 March 2021, the Group has a total of nine ongoing projects, each with
an awarded contract sum (exclusive of variation orders) of over HKS5 million.
The aggregate contract sums and the aggregated revenue recognised
(inclusive of variation orders and contract sum adjustments as at 31 March
2021) of these ongoing projects as at 31 March 2021 amounted to
approximately HK$716.2 million and HK$461.4 million respectively.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

The Group recorded gross profit of approximately HK$21.4 million for the year
ended 31 March 2021, as compared with the gross profit of approximately
HK$60.9 million for the year ended 31 March 2020. The Group's gross profit
margin for the Year was approximately 6.1% as compared with approximately
24.8% for the year ended 31 March 2020. Such decrease in gross profit and
gross profit margin were mainly because (i) the supply chain management
and production capacity across the construction material suppliers have been
affected by the outbreak of the COVID-19, which resulted in a delay in
suppliers’ delivery of construction materials and that was beyond the control
of the Group. In order to catch up with the schedule of the Group’s on-going
projects, the Group incurred additional costs to speed up the installation
process, which caused the surge of costs in certain projects; and (ii) the
increase in overall construction costs due to additional costs incurred for
subcontracting works for the on-going projects as a result of unstable project
schedules during the COVID-19. In addition, the uncertainty in the local
property market and the real estate sector in Hong Kong and the economic
downturn in Hong Kong has caused a reduction in tenders. The limited
tendering opportunities increased the competition in the construction
industry, which affected the Group's tendering price and profit margin of new
projects. The aforementioned factors significantly undermined the overall
profitability of the Group.

Looking forward, the Group will continue to actively explore and consider any
suitable development opportunities in the industry that can broaden our
revenue base and are beneficial to the Group and its shareholders as a whole.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue

The Group's revenue increased by approximately HK$105.3 million or
approximately 43% from approximately HK$245.5 million for the year ended
31 March 2020 to approximately HK$350.8 million for the Year. The increase in
revenue was mainly driven by the revenue contributed by some of our on-
going projects in execution-peak stage during the Year.

Gross Profit and Gross Profit Margin

The gross profit of the Group for the Year amounted to approximately HK$21.4
million, representing a decrease of approximately 65% as compared with
approximately HK$60.9 million for the year ended 31 March 2020. The Group's
gross profit margin for the Year was approximately 6.1%, as compared with
approximately 24.8% for the year ended 31 March 2020. The decrease in gross
profit and gross profit margin was primarily due to the reasons as mentioned
under the section “Business Review and Outlook”.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

THEEFWRRAS

Other Income and Gain

Other income and gain of the Group for the Year amounted to approximately
HKS$5.2 million, representing an increase of approximately 311% or HK$3.9
million as compared with approximately HK$1.3 million for the year ended 31
March 2020. The increase was primarily due to the increase in bank interest
income generated from bank deposits, recovery of bad debt and the
government subsidies from the Employment Support Scheme under the Anti-
epidemic Fund of the Government of the Hong Kong Special Administrative
Region for the Year.

Administrative Expenses

The administrative expenses of the Group for the Year amounted to
approximately HK$15.7 million, representing an increase of approximately
35.3% as compared with approximately HK$11.6 million (excluding non-
recurring listing expenses of approximately HK$15.0 million) for year ended 31
March 2020. The increase was mainly attributable to (i) the increase of
administrative staff costs (including directors’ emoluments) due to the general
increment in salaries for the Directors and administrative, accounting and
finance staffs; (i) the increase in recurring post-listing professional fees; (i)
increase in depreciation of property, plant and equipment; and (iv) increase in
depreciation of right-of-use assets.

Finance Costs

Finance costs of the Group for the Year were approximately HK$107,000,
representing a decrease of approximately 8% as compared with
approximately HK$116,000 for the year ended 31 March 2020. The decrease
was mainly attributable to the repayment of bank borrowings before the Year
and partially offset by increase in interest from lease liabilities.

Profit for the year

Profit attributable to owners of the Company for the Year decreased by
approximately HK$21.7 million or approximately 78% from approximately
HKS$27.7 million for the year ended 31 March 2020 to approximately HK$6.0
million for the Year. The decrease in the Group's net profit for the Year was
mainly due the decrease in gross profit and gross profit margin as discussed
above.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL RESOURCES AND CAPITAL
STRUCTURE

The Shares were successfully listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange
on the Listing Date and there has been no change in capital structure of the
Group since then.

As at 31 March 2021, the Company's issued capital was HK$ 10,000,000 and the
number of its issued ordinary shares was 1,000,000,000 of HK$0.01 each.

As at 31 March 2021, the Group had total cash and bank balances of
approximately HK$84.8 million (2020: approximately HK$182.1 million). There
were no bank borrowings of the Group as at 31 March 2021 and 2020.
Interests were charged at floating rates. The Group did not carry out any
interest rate hedging policy.

TREASURY POLICY

The Group has adopted a prudent financial management approach towards
its treasury policy. The Board closely monitors the Group's liquidity position to
ensure that the liquidity structure of the Group's assets, liabilities, and other
commitments can meet its funding requirements all the time.

PLEDGE OF ASSETS

As at 31 March 2021, the Group had approximately HK$29.2 million (2020:
approximately HK$4.4 million) of time deposits pledged for banking facilities.

FOREIGN EXCHANGE RISK

The Group mainly operates in Hong Kong. Most of the operating transactions
and revenue were settled in Hong Kong dollars and the Group's assets and
liabilities are primarily denominated in Hong Kong dollars. With the
insignificant portion of monetary transactions and assets denominated in
foreign currencies, the Group did not engage in any derivatives agreement
and did not commit to any financial instrument to hedge its foreign exchange
exposure during the Year (2020: Nil).

GEARING RATIO

As at 31 March 2021, the gearing ratio (calculated as total debts (including
lease liabilities) divided by the total equity) was approximately 1.3% (2020:
approximately 0.3%).
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Management Discussion and Analysis

THEEFWRRAS

CAPITAL EXPENDITURE

During the Year, the Group invested approximately HK$6.6 million (2020:
approximately HK$112,000) on the acquisition of property, plant and
equipment mainly for the use of the warehouse and office premises which
operated since November 2020. Capital expenditure was principally funded
by internal resources.

LEASES

During the Year, the Group entered into a new lease arrangement with Ms.
Wong Chun Siu, the spouse of Mr. Chen Yuet Wa (the "Controlling
Shareholder’), for the use of a warehouse and office premises. Upon initial
recognition, the Group recognised a right-of-use asset and a lease liability of
approximately HK$7,206,000. Pursuant to the supplemental agreement signed
in December 2020, the lease period was changed to fixed lease period of three
years and upon its expiration, it shall be renewable for an additional three
years subject to agreement of terms by both parties. The right-of-use asset
and the lease liability were reduced by approximately HKS$3,603,000 and
HK$3,447,000 respectively. Details of the lease arrangement were disclosed in
the announcements of connected transaction of the Company dated 10
December 2020 and supplemental announcement dated 11 January 2021.

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENT
LIABILITIES

As at 31 March 2021 and 2020, the Group had no material capital
commitments.

As at 31 March 2021, contingent liabilities not provided for in the financial
statements are guarantees given to a bank for surety bonds of approximately
HK$39.5 million (2020: approximately HK$4.4 million).

In the ordinary course of the Group's construction business, the Group has
been subject to a number of claims due to personal injuries suffered by
employees of the Group or the Group's subcontractors in accidents arising out
of and in the course of their employment. The Directors of the Company are
of the opinion that such claims are well covered by insurance and would not
result in any material adverse impact on the financial position or results and
operations of the Group.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS OF
SUBSIDIARIES AND ASSOCIATED COMPANIES

During the Year, the Group did not have any material acquisitions or disposals
of subsidiaries or associated companies.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed
any of the Company’s listed securities during the Year.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENT HELD

During the Year, the Group did not hold any significant investments.

FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS OR
CAPITAL ASSETS

Save as disclosed under the section headed “Future plans and use of
proceeds” in the prospectus (the “Prospectus”) of the Company dated 31
December 2019, the Group did not have any other plans for material
investments or capital assets as at 31 March 2021.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

THEEFWRRAS

USE OF PROCEEDS FROM THE LISTING B RERE

The net proceeds from the Listing amounted to approximately HK$78.9  FHAAIERIEFE (LR EHEERLESIUAL
million (after deducting the underwriting fees and commissions and all related ~ FrA BB X ) X5 780 A EAE T » BERLEA
expenses), which is slightly lower than the estimated net proceeds of & HEIA2020F 1 16 Bz R ([ 2 B4
approximately HK$82.5 million as disclosed in the announcement of allotment R |) A EFTIE 2 (Gt TS IR F5E 41825 H
results of the Company dated 16 January 2020 (the “Allotment Results”). The & T c XIS RIBFEDIRIBRER [ KK
net proceeds has been adjusted in the same manner and same proportionto 52| R FFERIBRAE | — 8B EN S RIE
the use of proceeds as disclosed in the section headed “Future Plans and Use A& AR R J7 2 R ARR LE B 3828 o B &= 2021 €
of Proceeds” in the Prospectus. An analysis of the utilisation of the net 3 831 BBBARAERIBFE Y D& T
proceeds up to 31 March 2021 is set out below:

Actual
utilised Expected
Estimated Adjusted amount from timeframe of
use of use of the Listing Unutilised full utilisation
proceeds as proceeds Dateto amountasat of unutilised
per Allotment from the 31March 31March amount from
Results Listing 2021 2021 the share offer
ZEBAR
RED B RELt®m BLWAHE B ROBE
RZFBR ZFBRIE 2021638310 20215308310 KBALHEN
Bt A% LREAE BERBALHE ABASE FHGEER
HKS million HKS million HKS million HKS million
BEAT BEAT BEAT BEAT
Satisfying surety bond requirement YHEARESK 327 312 247 65 Fourth quarter of
2021
2001 FEMER
Upfront costs of our awarded projects %18 B SR EIRLA 328 314 286 28 Third quarter of
2021
WER=FRE
Expansion of project management team, & AJE B BB » 120 115 6.9 46 First quarter of
design team, supporting staff and REEN - ZEAB 2022
rent a new office THERHBAE WREE-FE
General working capital —ReEEER 50 48 48 -
825 789 65.0 139
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Management Discussion and Analysis

The unutilised net proceeds as at 31 March 2021 are placed as interest-bearing
deposits with authorised financial institutions or licensed banks in Hong Kong.

The Directors regularly evaluate the Group's business objectives and may
change or modify plans against the changing market condition to ascertain
the business growth of the Group. As at the date of this report, the Directors
do not anticipate any change to the plan as to the use of proceeds and the
unutilised net proceeds will be applied and utilised in the manner consistent
with the proposed allocations and the proposed timeline.

RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The Group believes that the risk management practices are important and
uses its best effort to ensure it has sufficiently mitigated the risks present in
our operations and financial position as efficiently and effectively as possible.

Our projects are non-recurring in nature and we generally have to go
through competitive tendering or quotation process to secure new
projects. Failure to continuously secure new projects could materially
affect our sustainability and financial performance;

Mismanagement or delay of project may materially affect our reputation
and financial performance;

We rely on building material suppliers and subcontractors to implement
our projects;

Under-performance by subcontractors or unavailability of
subcontractors may adversely affect our operations, profitability and
reputation;

There may be net cash outflow during certain periods of our operations
due to payment practice and this may affect our ability to secure new
projects and expand our business;

Changes in the supply and costs of building materials, subcontracting
fees and other costs overruns may materially and adversely affect our
operations and profitability; and

Our success significantly depends on the key management and our

ability to attract and retain additional facade works design team staff.

For other risks and uncertainties the Group facing, please refer to the section
headed "Risk Factors” in the Prospectus.
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Report of the Directors

EFERE

The Board is pleased to present to the shareholders their annual report
together with the audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for
the Year.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company and through its subsidiaries,
is principally engaged in the provision of aluminium works and related
services and trading of tools and equipment in Hong Kong. Details and
particulars of the Group's subsidiaries are set out in note 1 to the financial
statements. There was no significant change in the Group's principal activities
during the Year.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The review of the business of the Group for the Year and the discussion on the
Group's business development are set out in the sections headed
“Management Discussion and Analysis” and “Chairman’s Statement” on pages
6 to 13, and pages 4 to 5 of this annual report, respectively. The Group's
segment information and revenue for the Year are set out in notes 4 and 5 to
the financial statements. The Group’s key relationship with its stakeholders
(including employees, customers and suppliers) who have a significant impact
on the Group and on which the Group's success depends, is set out in this
report. Principal risks and uncertainties facing the Group are set out in the
section headed “Management Discussion and Analysis” on pages 6 to 13 of
this annual report. These discussions form part of the Report of the Directors.

Environmental, Social and Governance Policies

The Group is committed to protecting the environment, fulfilling social
responsibility and promoting employee benefits and development to achieve
sustainable growth of its business. For more details of the Group's
performances in environmental and social aspects, please refer to the
“Environmental, Social and Governance Report” section of this annual report.

Compliance with Relevant Laws and Regulations

During the Year, the Group was not aware of material non-compliance with
the relevant laws and regulations that had a significant impact on the business
and operations of the Group.
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DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company has adopted a dividend policy, pursuant to which the Board, in
declaring or recommending a payment of dividends, to allow shareholders of
the Company to participate in the Company’s profits whilst retains sufficient
reserves for future growth of the Group.

The declaration and payment of any dividends by the Company would be
subject to the Board's decision and any final dividend for a financial year of the
Company would be subject to the shareholders’ approval.

In deciding whether to recommend the payment of any dividends and the
amount of any dividends, the Board shall take into account, inter alia:

the general financial condition of the Group;

capital and debt level of the Group;

future cash requirements and availability for business operations,
business strategies and future development needs;

any restrictions on payment of dividends that may be imposed by the
Group’s lenders;

the general market conditions; and
any other factors that the Board deems appropriate.

The payment of dividend by the Company is also subject to any restrictions
under the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands and any other applicable
laws, rules and regulations and the Articles of Association of the Company.

RESULTS AND DIVIDEND

The results of the Group for the Year and the state of affairs of the Company
and of the Group as at 31 March 2021 are set out in the consolidated financial
statements on pages 59 to 135 of this annual report. The Board has resolved
not to recommend the declaration of final dividend to shareholders of the
Company for the Year.
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Report of the Directors

EFERE

CLOSURE OF THE REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The forthcoming annual general meeting is scheduled to be held on 24
August 2021 (the "AGM"). For determining eligibility to attend and vote at the
AGM, the register of members of the Company will be closed from 19 August
2021 to 24 August 2021, both days inclusive, during which period no transfer
of shares of the Company will be registered. In order to attend and vote at the
AGM, all share transfer documents accompanied by the relevant share
certificates must be lodged with the share registrar of the Company in Hong
Kong, Tricor Investor Services Limited, Level 54, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s
Road East, Hong Kong, for registration not later than 4:30 p.m. on 18 August
2021.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the Group
during the Year are set out in note 13 to the financial statements of this annual
report.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS, SUBCONTRACTORS AND
SUPPLIERS

The approximate percentages of the Group's revenue and cost of sales
attributable to major customers and suppliers (which generally includes
subcontractors and material suppliers) during the Year and year ended 31
March 2020 are as follows:

Approximate % of total revenue:
RARPAL
ﬁj(%_)’f (=] /\{Iﬁtt

from the largest customer
from the five largest customers
in aggregate
Approximate % of total cost of sales:

AN B IR HER AR

B E S
from the largest supplier BAHERGL
from the five largest suppliers AAHERS HIGT

in aggregate
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Year ended

31 March 2020
B ZE 20205
3H31H
IEFE

Year ended
31 March 2021

HZE2021F
3A31H
IEEE

AT REBELBRRENOEOB DL

59.2 578
98.3 94.0
12.6 210
383 44.5



To the best of the knowledge of the Directors, none of the Directors, their
close associates (as defined in the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on
the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules")) or any shareholder (which to the
knowledge of the Directors owns more than 5% of the Company'’s issued
share capital) had an any beneficial interest in these major customers or
suppliers.

RELATIONSHIP WITH KEY STAKEHOLDERS

The Directors are of the view that employees, customers, sub-contractors and
suppliers are the keys to the sustainable development of the Group.

Employees

Employees are regarded as valuable assets of the Group. The objective of the
Group's human resource management is to reward and recognise well-
performed staff by providing a competitive remuneration package and
implementing a sound performance appraisal system with appropriate
incentives. In particular, the Group promotes career development and
advancement by providing appropriate training and opportunities in order to
enhance the employees’ work performance.

Customers

The Group's major customers include main contractors for our design and
build projects while we are mainly engaged by owners and tenants of
properties, and their contractors for renovation projects. The Group has
established long-term business relationship with these customers for many
years and committed to offer quality service to meet their requirement. The
Group endeavours to maintain contacts with these customers regularly in
order to understand their needs and provide required service to support their
businesses.

Subcontractors and Material Suppliers

The Group has developed a long-standing relationship with a number of
subcontractors and material suppliers and the Group has always been
communicating closely with them to ensure that there will be good quality
and sustainable goods and services provided to the Group. When selecting
subcontractors and material suppliers, the Group often requires them to
satisfy certain criteria such as experience and capability, financial strength,
track record, and reputation.

BANK BORROWINGS

The Group did not made any bank borrowings during the Year.
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Report of the Directors

EFERE

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements during the Year in the share capital of the Company are
set out in note 24 to the financial statements of this annual report.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Company and Group during the
Year are set out in note 32 to the financial statements and in the consolidated
statement of changes in equity on page 62 of this annual report.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 March 2021, the Company had distributable reserves amounted to
approximately HK$66.1 million.

DIRECTORS

The Directors who held office during the Year and up to the date of this
annual report were:

Executive Directors
Mr. Chen Yuet Wa (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Chan Fai

Independent Non-Executive Directors
Mr. Chow Chi Fai
Mr. Chan Hon Ki
Mr. Yu Chi Wing

In accordance with article 84 of the Company’s articles of association (the
"Articles of Association”), Mr. Chai Fai and Mr. Chow Chi Fai will retire and,
being eligible, will offer themselves for re-election at the forthcoming annual
general meeting of the Company. The Directors’ biographical details are set
out in the section headed “Biographies of the Directors and Senior
Management” in this annual report. Information regarding Directors’
emoluments is set out in note 8 to the financial statements of this annual
report.

Annual confirmation of independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing
Rules has been received from each of the independent non-executive
Directors. The Group considers all independent non-executive Directors to be
independent under the Listing Rules.
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACT

Each of the executive Directors has entered into a service contract with the
Company for a term of three years commencing from the Listing Date, unless
terminated by not less than three months’ notice in writing served by either
party on the other.

Each of the independent non-executive Directors have entered into a letter of
appointment with the Company for a term of two years commencing from
the Listing Date, unless terminated by not less than three month’s notice in
writing served by either party on the other.

No Director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual general
meeting has a service contract with the Company which is not determinable
by the Company within one year without payment of compensation, other
than statutory compensation.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

During the Year, no contract, other than the Directors’ service contracts and
appointment letters, concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the Company’s business was entered into or
existed.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION AND FIVE HIGHEST
PAID INDIVIDUALS

Details of the emoluments of the Directors and the five highest paid
individuals of the Group are set out in notes 8 and 9 to the financial
statements.
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Report of the Directors

EFERE

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY AND
ITS ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS

As at 31 March 2021, interests and short positions in the Shares, underlying
shares and debentures of the Company and any of its associated corporations
(within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance
(“SFO")) held by the Directors and chief executive of the Company which have
been notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions
7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO or have been entered in the register maintained
by the Company pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, or otherwise have been
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code
for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) in
Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules are as follows:

(i) Long position in our Shares

Name of Director

EENS

Capacity/Nature
510,/ HE

Interest in a controlled
corporation (note)
A E R s ()

Mr. Chen Yuet Wa

PRLEE S A

Note: 750,000,000 Shares are registered in the name of Ornate Bright Limited ("Ornate
Bright"), the entire issued capital of which is legally and beneficially owned by Mr.
Chen Yuet Wa, our executive Director. By virtue of the SFO, Mr. Chen Yuet Wa is
deemed to be interested in all the Shares held by Ornate Bright.

(ii) Long position in the shares of associated corporation

Name of
associated
corporation

HEEZE AR

Capacity/
Nature

g4 HE

Name of Director

ESHR

Mr. Chen Yuet Wa Ornate Bright Beneficial Owner
BRE R L g BEaEAA

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2021, none of the Directors or the
chief executive of the Company had any interests or short positions in the
Shares, underlying Shares or debentures of the Company or any of its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) as
recorded in the register required to be kept under Section 352 of the SFO, or
as otherwise required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
under the Model Code.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' INTERESTS AND
SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING
SHARES

As at 31 March 2021, so far as it is known by or otherwise notified by any
Director or the chief executive of the Company, the particulars of the
corporations or individuals (other than a Director or chief executive of the
Company) who had or were deemed or taken to have an interest or short
position in the Shares and underlying Shares of the Company which would fall
to be disclosed to the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of
Part XV of the SFO, as recorded in the register required to be kept under
section 336 of the SFO were as follows:

LONG POSITION IN THE SHARES

Capacity/Nature of interest

510, HEMEE
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Ornate Bright Beneficial owner (note 1)
=2 BEamlEa A (MEE1)
Ms. Wong Chun Siu Interest of spouse (note 2)
wBHEXZ L foi@tgss (MaE2)

Notes:

1. Ornate Bright is wholly-owned by Mr. Chen Yuet Wa.

2. Ms. Wong Chun Siu is the spouse of Mr. Chen Yuet Wa and is deemed or taken to be
interested in all the Shares in which Mr. Chen Yuet Wa has, or is deemed to have, an interest
for the purposes of the SFO.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2021, the Company had not been
notified by any persons who had interests or short positions in the shares or
underlying shares of the Company which would fall to be disclosed to the
Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or
which were recorded in the register maintained by the Company pursuant to
section 336 of the SFO.

COMPETING INTERESTS

The Directors are not aware of any business or interest of the Directors, the
controlling shareholders of the Company or any of their respective close
associates (as defined in the Listing Rules) that compete or may compete,
directly or indirectly, with the business of the Group and any other conflicts of
interest which any such person has or may have with the Group and is
required to be disclosed pursuant to Rule 8.10 of the Listing Rules during the
Year.

R zHFR
Number of Percentage
Shares held of interest
FEROEE BEEIL
750,000,000 75%
750,000,000 75%
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NON-COMPETITION UNDERTAKING

Each of Mr. Chen Yuet Wa and Ornate Bright, which is beneficially and wholly
owned by Mr. Chen Yuet Wa, as a covenantor (each a “Covenantor’,
collectively, “Covenantors”’) entered into a non-competition undertaking
dated 12 December 2019 in favour of the Group (the “Non-Competition
Undertaking").

Each of the Covenantors has made an annual declaration to the Company
that, he/it has complied with the terms of Non-Competition Undertaking. The
Independent Non-executive Directors have also reviewed the compliance of
the Non-Competition Undertaking from the Covenantors and were satisfied
that the Covenanters have complied with the Non-Competition Undertaking
during the Year.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

The Company has arranged for appropriate insurance coverage for Directors’
and officers’ liabilities in respect of legal actions against its Directors and senior
management arising from corporate activities.

Pursuant to the Articles of Association, every Director shall be entitled to be
indemnified and secured harmless out of the assets of the Company from and
against all actions, costs, charges, losses, damages and expenses which they or
any of them, shall or may incur or sustain by reason of any act done, concurred
in or omitted in or about the execution of their duty or supposed duty in their
respective offices, except such (if any) as they shall incur or sustain through
their own fraud or dishonesty.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE LISTED
SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

During the Year, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries had
purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTION,
ARRANGEMENT OR CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save as otherwise disclosed, no transaction, arrangement or contracts of
significance to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party and in
which a Director or any entity connected with a Director had a material
interest, either directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any
time during the Year.
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CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS' INTEREST IN
CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save as otherwise disclosed, no contract of significance to which the
Company, its holding companies, or any of its subsidiaries was a party, and in
which the controlling shareholders’ of the Company or any of its subsidiaries
had a material interest, either directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the
year or at any time during the Year.

ARRANGEMENTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

At no time during the Year and up to the date of this annual report was the
Company, or any of its subsidiaries, a party to any arrangement to enable the
Directors to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of Shares in or
debentures of the Company or any body corporate.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Articles or the laws of
the Cayman Islands, which would oblige the Company to offer new Shares on
a pro-rata basis to existing shareholders.

CONNECTED/RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Connected transaction

On 1 August 2020, the Group entered into a new lease arrangement with Ms.
Wong Chun Siu, the spouse of the Controlling Shareholder, for the use of a
warehouse and office premises with fixed lease period of one year and
optional lease period of five years. Upon initial recognition, in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standard 16 Leases (‘HKFRS 16") issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants, the Group recognised a
right-of-use asset and a lease liability of approximately HKS$7.2 million.
Pursuant to the supplemental agreement signed in December 2020, the lease
period was changed to fixed lease period of three years and upon its
expiration, it shall be renewable for an additional three years subject to
agreement of terms by both parties. The right-of-use asset and the lease
liability were reduced by approximately HK$3.6 million and HK$3.4 million
respectively.

As the highest applicable percentage ratio in respect of the new lease
agreement calculated based on the value of the right-of-use asset recognised
by the Group pursuant to HKFRS 16 exceeds 0.1% but is less than 5%, the
transaction contemplated under the new lease agreement are subject to the
reporting and announcement requirements but are exempted from
independent shareholders’ approval requirement under Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules.

Details of the lease arrangement were disclosed in the announcements of
connected transaction of the Company dated 10 December 2020 and
supplemental announcement dated 11 January 2021.
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Continuing connected transactions

The related party transaction as disclosed in note 28(b) to the financial
statements of this annual report constituted continuing connected
transactions within the meaning of the Listing Rules. Details of such
transactions have been disclosed in accordance with Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules and summarised below:

Lease payments paid to Ms. Wong Chun Siu,
the spouse of the Controlling Shareholder
(note)

S e E R (KT AE)

Note:

During the Year, the Group entered into a new lease arrangement with Ms. Wong Chun Siu for the
use of a warehouse and office premises. Ms. Wong Chun Siu is the spouse of the Controlling
Shareholder, therefore, Ms. Wong Chun Siu is a connected person of the Company under the Listing
Rules. Accordingly, under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules, the transaction contemplated under the
new lease agreement constitute a continuing connected transaction of the Company.

As each of the applicable percentage ratios (other than the profits ratio) in respect of the continuing
connected transaction contemplated under the new lease agreement (on an annualised basis)
fulfilled the exemption of de minimis transactions under Listing Rules 14A.76 and was therefore
exempted from reporting, annual review and independent shareholders’ approval.

Details of the lease arrangement were disclosed in the announcements of connected transaction of
the Company dated 10 December 2020 and supplemental announcement dated 11 January 2021.

Save as disclosed above, there were no connected transactions or continuing
connected transactions of the Company as defined under Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules which are required to comply with any of the reporting,
announcement or independent Shareholders’ approval requirements under
the Listing Rules. Details of the significant related party transactions
undertaken in the normal course of business are set out in the note 28 to the
financial statements of this annual report. Save as disclosed above, none of the
related party transactions as disclosed constituted disclosable non-exempted
connected transaction or continuing connected transaction under Chapter
14A of the Listing Rules and the Company had complied with the relevant
requirements of Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules during the Year.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The share option scheme was conditionally adopted by the Company on 12
December 2019 (the “Share Option Scheme”) and shall be valid until 12
December 2029. Pursuant to the Share Option Scheme, certain eligible
participants including, among others, the Directors and employees of the
Group may be granted option to subscribe for shares. The purpose of the
Share Option Scheme is to provide incentives or rewards to participants for
their contribution to the Group and/or to enable the Group to recruit and
retain high-calibre employees and attract human resources that are valuable
to the Group. A Summary of principal terms of the Share Option Scheme is set
out in the paragraph headed “D. Share Option Scheme” in Appendix IV to the
Prospectus.

Pursuant to the terms of the Share Option Scheme and in compliance with
the provisions in Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules, the maximum number of
Shares which may be issued upon exercise of all share options to be granted
under the Share Option Scheme and all share option schemes of the
Company shall not exceed 100,000,000 Shares, being 10% of the Shares in
issue as at the date of this annual report.

The total number of Shares issued and which may fall to be issued upon
exercise of the options granted under the Share Option Scheme to eligible
participants in any 12 months period up to the date of grant shall not exceed
1% of the Shares in issue as at the date of grant. Any further grant of options in
excess of this 1% limit shall be subject to the approval of Shareholders in a
general meeting.

An offer of the grant of a share option shall be accepted by the eligible
participants within a period of seven days from the date of offer of grant of the
option. The consideration paid by each grantee for the acceptance and grant
of each share option is HK$1.00, which has to be paid within seven days.

Unless approved by Shareholders in a general meeting, the amount of Shares
which can be awarded to a substantial Shareholder or an independent non-
executive Director or their respective associates in the Share Option Scheme
in the 12-month period up to and including the date of such grant for any
particular aforementioned person in aggregate, is at maximum 0.1% of the
Shares in issue and having an aggregate value, based on the closing price of
the Shares at the date of each grant, of a maximum of HK$5.0 million.

The subscription price of a Share in respect of any particular option granted
under the Share Option Scheme shall be such price as determined by the
Board and shall not be less than the highest of: (i) the closing price of the
shares as stated in the Stock Exchange's daily quotation sheets on the date of
grant of the option, which must be a trading date; (ii) the average of the
closing prices of the Shares as stated in the Stock Exchange's daily quotation
sheets for the five trading dates immediately preceding the date of grant of
the option; or (iii) the nominal value of a Share.

Since the adoption of the Share Option Scheme, no option has been granted.
Therefore, no option was exercised, cancelled or lapsed during the Year and
there was no option outstanding as at 31 March 2021.
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EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save and except for the Share Option Scheme disclosed, no equity-linked
agreements were entered into by the Company during the Year or subsisted
at the end of the year.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and within
the knowledge of the Directors, the Directors confirmed that the Company
has maintained a sufficient amount of public float for the Shares as required
under the Listing Rules during the Year.

TAX RELIEF AND EXEMPTION

The Company is not aware of any tax relief or exemption available to the
Shareholders by reason of their holdings of the Company’s securities.

COMPLIANCE ADVISER’S INTERESTS

As notified by the Company’s compliance adviser, First Shanghai Capital
Limited ("First Shanghai”), as at 31 March 2021, except for the compliance
adviser agreement entered into between the Company and First Shanghai
dated 23 August 2019, neither First Shanghai nor its directors, employees or
close associates had any interests in relation to the Company, which is
required to be notified to the Company pursuant to the Listing Rules.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee has reviewed the audited consolidated financial
statements of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2021.

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS

The consolidated financial statements for the Year have been audited by Ernst
& Young, who will retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for
reappointment at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The details of the Group's corporate governance practices are set out in the
section headed “Corporate Governance Report” from pages 30 to 41 of this
annual report.

On behalf of the Board
Chen Yuet Wa
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Hong Kong, 28 June 2021
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Biographies of the Directors and Senior Management

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Chen Yuet Wa, aged 43, is the founder of our Group, our Chairman, our
executive Director, our chief executive officer and one of our Controlling
Shareholders. He is also the chairperson of our nomination committee and a
member of our remuneration committee. He is primarily responsible for
overall business strategy, annual budget proposals and major business
decision of our Group. He is also a director of each of our Group’s subsidiaries.

Mr. Chen Yuet Wa found our Group in May 2007 and has more than 13 years
of experience in the facade works industry. In April 2002, he established Wa
Kee Company, a sole proprietorship in Hong Kong which principally engaged
in the provision of aluminum window works in Hong Kong. Wa Kee Company
subsequently ceased business in March 2011 after the establishment of Wah
Kee in May 2007.

Mr. Chan Fai, aged 44, is one of our executive Directors. He is primarily
responsible for project management and supervision of our subcontractors’

work.

Mr. Chan has more than 18 years of experience in the construction industry in
Hong Kong. Since April 2010, he has been working for our Group and is
currently the general manager of Wah Kee.

Mr. Chan obtained a certificate of completion of apprenticeship issued by the
director of apprenticeship in December 2002 and a higher diploma in building
studies from the Vocational Training Council in July 2006.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Chow Chi Fai, aged 50, was appointed as an independent non-executive
Directors ("INED”) on 12 December 2019. He is also the chairperson of our
audit committee and a member of our remuneration committee. He is
primarily responsible for supervising and providing independent judgment to
our Board, our audit committee and remuneration committee.

Mr. Chow has over 20 years of experience in the accounting and finance
industry. Since December 2008, he has been the financial controller and
company secretary of Elife Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 223). He was also
appointed as the INED of Sun Hing Vision Group Holdings Limited (Stock
Code: 125) since March 2021.
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EEAEREERBE

Mr. Chow obtained a bachelor's degree in accountancy from the University of
South Australia in Australia in June 1995. Mr. Chow was admitted as a member
of Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants since March 1999.

Mr. Chan Hon Ki, aged 42, was appointed as an INED on 12 December 2019.
He is also the chairperson of our remuneration committee and a member of
our audit committee and nomination committee. He is primarily responsible
for supervising and providing independent judgement to our Board, our audit
committee, remuneration committee and nomination committee.

Mr. Chan has more than 14 years of accounting and auditing experience. Mr.
Chan is currently the executive director, financial director, chief executive
officer and joint company secretary of Aux International Holdings Limited
(stock code: 2080) and the INED of Chen Lin Education Group Holdings
Limited (stock code: 1593).

Mr. Chan obtained a bachelor of commerce degree in accountancy, finance
and information systems, and business administration from the University of
Canterbury in New Zealand in April 2000. He was admitted as a member of
The Association of Chartered Certified Accountants in April 2004 and a
member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants in July
2012.

Mr. Yu Chi Wing, aged 37, was appointed as an INED on 12 December 2019.
He is also a member of our audit committee and nomination committee. He is
primarily responsible for supervising and providing independent judgement
to our Board, our audit committee and nomination committee.

Mr. Yu has more than 15 years of advisory, accounting, taxation and auditing
experience. In September 2016 and May 2021, Mr. Yu founded JR & Co.,
Certified Public Accountants and co-founded Emerald Capital CPA & Co.
respectively. He is currently an INED of Fameglow Holdings Limited (Stock
Code: 8603).

Mr. Yu obtained a bachelor of arts degree with a major in accountancy and a
minor in corporate finance from the Hong Kong Polytechnic University in June
2005. He was admitted as a member in January 2012 and is currently a
practising member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.
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Biographies of the Directors and Senior Management

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Lam Mau Yuen, aged 48, is the senior design manager of our Group. He
is responsible for overseeing general technical and engineering works, tender
preparation and compliance matters. Mr. Lam has been working for our Group
since March 2017. Prior to joining our Group, Mr. Lam worked for various
construction and engineering related companies and he has more than 20
years of experience in the construction industry. Mr. Lam obtained a higher
certificate in building studies from the Vocational Training Council in July
2002.

Mr. Lee Kai Ming, aged 32, is our financial controller and company secretary.
He is responsible for overseeing our financial reporting, financial planning,
treasury, financial control and company secretarial matters. Mr. Lee has over
five years of experience in the accounting industry and he has been working
for our Group since February 2018. Mr. Lee obtained a bachelor of business
administration in accountancy from The Hong Kong Polytechnic University in
October 2012. He was admitted as a certified public accountant of Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants in September 2016.

Mr. Lee Ka Keung, aged 37, is a senior quality control manager of our Group.
He is primarily responsible for overseeing the execution of projects and
supervising workers at construction sites. He has been working for our Group
since June 2011. Prior to joining our Group, Mr. Lee worked for several
construction companies and he has more than 10 years of experience in the
construction industry in Hong Kong. Mr. Lee obtained a diploma and a higher
diploma in building services engineering from the Vocational Training Council
in July 2005 and February 2011, respectively. Mr. Lee completed a construction
safety supervisor course organised by the Construction Industry Training
Authority in November 2007.
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Corporate Governance Report
BREIWE

The Company strives to attain and maintain a high standard of corporate
governance as it believes that effective corporate governance practices are
fundamental to enhancing shareholders’ value and safeguarding interests of
shareholders and other stakeholders. Accordingly, the Board attributes a high
priority to identifying and implementing appropriate corporate governance
practices to ensure transparency, accountability and effective internal controls.

The Company has adopted all the code provision in the Corporate
Governance Code (the "CG Code") in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules as its
own code on corporate governance practices. During the Year, the Company
has complied with the code provisions under the CG Code, except for the
deviation from code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code as explained below. The
Company will continue to enhance its corporate governance practices
appropriate to the operation and growth of the business of the Group.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board is responsible for formulating business strategies and monitoring
the performance of the business of the Group. Other than the daily
operational decisions which are delegated to the management of the Group,
most of the decisions are made by the Board. All Directors, including
independent non-executive Directors, have brought a wide spectrum of
valuable business experience, knowledge and professionalism to the Board for
its efficient and effective functioning.

The Company has complied with Rules 3.10(1) and 3.10A of the Listing Rules
during the Year. The Board is constituted of five members, including two
executive Directors and three independent non-executive Directors.

The composition of the Board is as follows:

Executive Directors
Mr. Chen Yuet Wa (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Chan Fai

Independent Non-Executive Directors
Mr. Chow Chi Fai
Mr. Chan Hon Ki
Mr. Yu Chi Wing

Biographical details of each Director are set out on pages 27 to 29 of this
annual report.
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Corporate Governance Report

The Company has signed a letter of appointment with each of the
independent non-executive Directors on 12 December 2019. The principal
particulars of these appointment letters are (a) each of them agreed to act for
an initial term of two year commencing from the Listing Date with a director’s
fee, which may be terminated by not less than three month’ written notice
served by either party on the other, and (b) is subject to termination provisions
therein and provisions on retirement by rotation of Directors as set out in the
Articles.

Pursuant to the Articles of Association, one-third of the Directors shall retire
from office by rotation at each annual general meeting and every Director
shall be subject to retirement by rotation at least once every 3 years. However,
a retiring Director shall be eligible for re-election.

The Company has received an annual confirmation of independence pursuant
to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules from each of the independent non-executive
Directors. The Company is of the view that all independent non-executive
Directors meet the independence guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing
Rules and are independent in accordance with the terms of the guidelines
during the Year and up to the date of this annual report. The Company has
also complied with Rule 3.10(2) of the Listing Rules. One of the independent
non-executive Directors possesses the appropriate professional accounting
qualifications and financial management expertise.

During the Year, five Board meetings and one annual general meeting were
held and the attendance record of each Director is set out in the table below:
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BRAFA® SEEFHENCHEENTE

Attendance/Number of Meeting

HERY, EFRE
Annual
General
Directors Board Meeting Meeting
2= EEE RRBFAE®
Executive Directors HITES
Mr. Chen Yuet Wa (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer) — PRENZES & (FEFHFITHAZE) 5/5 1/1
Mr. Chan Fai BRI % A& 5/5 1/1
Independent non-executive Directors BYEHTES
Mr. Chow Chi Fai [BEE L& 5/5 1/1
Mr. Chan Hon Ki PBRIEH LA 5/5 1/1
Mr. Yu Chi Wing FEEEE 5/5 1/1
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Every Director is entitled to have access to Board papers and related materials,
and the advice and services of the Company Secretary, and has the liberty to
seek independent professional advice at the Company’s expense if so
reasonably required. Directors will be continuously updated on the major
development of the Listing Rules and other applicable regulatory
requirements to ensure compliance and upkeep of good corporate
governance practices. The Company expects to convene at least four regular
Board meetings in each financial year at approximately quarterly intervals in
accordance with code provision A.1.1 of the CG Code.

According to code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code, the role of the chairman
and the chief executive officer of the Company should be separate and should
not be performed by the same individual. During the Year, the role of the
chairman and the chief executive officer of the Company are both performed
by Mr. Chen Yuet Wa. In view of Mr. Chen Yuet Wa's role in the day-to-day
management and operations of the Group, being one of the Controlling
Shareholders of the Group and as one of the Directors if not the sole director
of other members of the Group, as at the date of this annual report, the Board
believes that it is more effective and efficient overall business planning and
implementation of business decisions and strategies of the Group that it shall
be in the best interests of the Group for Mr. Chen Yuet Wa to take up the dual
roles of chairman and chief executive officer of the Company. Therefore, the
Board considers that the deviation from code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code is
appropriate in such circumstance and that there are sufficient checks and
balances in place by the operations of the Board, which comprises
experienced and high calibre individuals and adequate independent element
in the composition of the Board. The Board will continue to review and
consider splitting the roles of chairman and chief executive officer of the
Company at a time when it is appropriate and suitable by taking into account
the circumstances of the Group as a whole. The Directors are aware that the
Company is expected to comply with the CG Code. Any deviation from the CG
Code should be carefully considered and disclosed in the interim and annual
report. Save as disclosed above, the Company will continue to comply with
the CG Code to protect the best interests of the shareholders.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted a code of conduct regarding the transactions of
securities of the Company by the Directors and the relevant employees (who
likely possess inside information of the Company) (the “Securities Dealing
Code") on terms no less exacting than the required standard set out in the
Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the
“Model Code") as set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules. All Directors
have confirmed, following specific enquiries by the Company, that they fully
complied with the Model Code and the Securities Dealing Code during the
Year.
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CONTINUOUS PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT

The Company encourages the Directors to attend any relevant programme to
further enhance their knowledge so as to enable them to discharge their
duties and responsibilities more effectively. Prior to the Listing Date, all
Directors have been given relevant guideline materials and attended a training
regarding the duties and responsibilities of being a Director, the CG Code, the
Listing Rules and applicable laws and regulations and duty of disclosure of
interest. Such induction materials and briefing will also be provided to newly
appointed Directors shortly upon their appointment as Directors. Continuing
briefings and professional development to Directors will be arranged from
time to time.

The Directors confirmed that they have complied with the code provision
A.6.5 of the CG Code on Directors' training. During the period under review, all
Directors have participated in continuous professional development by
attending seminars/in-house briefing/reading materials to develop and
refresh their knowledge and skills.

All Directors have provided record of their training attendance and the
Company will continue to arrange and fund the training in accordance with
the CG Code.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established three committees, namely the audit committee the
"Audit Committee’), the nomination committee (the “Nomination
Committee”) and the remuneration committee (the "Remuneration
Committee”). The table below provides the membership information of these

committees on which certain Board members served:

ERELIRS

RFEEXRER

ARRBEBMEFTHFEM A E— SRS EANH
RMERARIE - REBEMEERMETEREAR
B - N LM BEHAT rEESEREMARME
Y UR2NEBRSGREENBENR
- EREBTA EMRRRERARER
REDEREMNMERE) - REFTEFTE
REREFR  HNSEEZSTHBEN LS
W BEENHEOBRIEERRETIRETR
B

ExmR RHFETAREFRHINGERER
STRAISEAGS RS RGN - REEME  28E
FBBLNAN G NEEEBIEMH2
BB TE R - ABR MBI RSO
R %BE

2RESFCRAREZIFINLE - NAF IR
RAEBIRIBEDEERTINRE R BEIIEE -

EEXZET

ExgoRU=-EZEE AEZZES(H
REEE®)) REZES((REZEESE)LH
WZEe2((HFMEEE]) - TREHREZXFZ
BERIRUMNETEFTERB ZKBER

Board Committee Audit Remuneration Nomination
EEXEE Committee Committee Committee
Director
== EREZEEE FMZEER BEEEE
Mr. Chen Yuet Wa PR EE ST A& - M C
Mr. Chan Fai PeR 28 o A= - - -
Mr. Chow Chi Fai Bk E C M -
Mr. Chan Hon Ki BRIZH LA M C M
Mr. Yu Chi Wing FEEEE M - M
Notes: PEE
C: Chairman of the relevant committees C—HBZEgxXR
M: Member of the relevant committees M—HEZEEKE
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ERELIRE

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company established the Audit Committee on 12 December 2019 with
written terms of reference in compliance with the Listing Rules and the CG
Code. The primary duties of the Audit Committee include, among others, (a)
making recommendations to the Board on the appointment, re-appointment
and removal of the external auditors and approving the remuneration and
terms of engagement of the external auditors; (b) reviewing the Company’s
financial statements, the annual report and accounts and the half-year report
and significant financial reporting judgments contained therein; and (c)
reviewing the Company’s financial controls, internal control and risk
management systems.

During the Year, the Audit Committee has held two meetings to review the
accounting principles and practices adopted by the Group and the financial
results for the six months ended 30 September 2020 and the Year. The
individual attendance record of each member at the meeting of Audit
Committee is set out below:

Name of member of the Audit Committee

ERZEEREHSR

Mr. Chow Chi Fai (Chairman) BEBEE(EE)

Mr. Chan Hon Ki PREIH ST A

Mr. Yu Chi Wing FEELEE
NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Company established the Nomination Committee on 12 December 2019
with written terms of reference in compliance with the CG Code. The primary
duties of the Nomination Committee include, among others, (a) reviewing the
structure, size and composition (including the skills, knowledge and
experience) of the Board at least annually and making recommendations on
any proposed changes to the Board to complement the corporate strategy; (b)
identifying individuals suitably qualified to become members of the Board and
selecting or making recommendations to the Board on the selection of
individuals nominated for directorships; (c) assessing the independence of the
independent non-executive Directors; (d) making recommendations to the
Board on the appointment or re-appointment of and succession planning for
the Directors; (e) reviewing the board diversity policy of the Company (‘Board
Diversity Policy”); and (f) developing and reviewing, as appropriate, the
policy for the nomination of Directors.
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During the Year, the Nomination Committee held a meeting and the
attendance record of each Director is set out in the table below:

Name of member of the Nomination Committee

REZEERERE

Mr. Chen Yuet Wa (Chairman) PR EE S A (£ )
Mr. Chan Hon Ki PREIE ST A&

Mr. Yu Chi Wing TRHRESLE

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Company established the Remuneration Committee on 12 December
2019 with written terms of reference in compliance with the Listing Rules and
the CG Code. The primary duties of the Remuneration Committee, under the
principle that no Director or any of his associates should be involved in
deciding his own remuneration include, among others, making
recommendations to the Board on (a) the remuneration policy and structure
for all of the Directors and senior management; (b) the establishment of a
formal and transparent procedure for developing remuneration policies; (c)
the remuneration packages of the executive Directors and senior
management, including benefits in kind, pension rights and compensation
payments, including any compensation payable for loss or termination of their
offices or appointments; and (d) the remuneration of the non-executive
Directors.

During the Year, a meeting was held and the attendance record of each
Director is set out in the table below:

Name of member of the Remuneration Committee

FEEEREHE

Mr. Chan Hon Ki (Chairman) PROEHE S E (EE)
Mr. Chen Yuet Wa PR EE S A

Mr. Chow Chi Fai BAEELE

Full details of remuneration of the Directors and the five highest paid
employees are set out in notes 8 and 9 to the financial statements of this
annual report.
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ERELIRE

BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Board has adopted the board diversity policy which sets out the approach
to achieve a sustainable and balanced development of the Company and also
to enhance the quality of performance of the Company. In designing the
Board’s composition, the Board has been considering from a number of
perspectives, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and
educational background, experience (professional or otherwise), skills, and
knowledge. The ultimate decision is based on merit and contribution that the
selected candidates will bring to the Board.

The Nomination Committee will review the board diversity policy from time to
time to ensure its continued effectiveness and monitor its implementation by
conducting review of the Board's composition at least once annually.

NOMINATION POLICY

The Company has adopted a nomination policy (the “Nomination Policy”)
for the purpose to identify and evaluate a candidate for nomination to the
Board for appointment or to the shareholders for election as a Director. The
Nomination Committee shall consider, among others, the following criteria in
evaluating and selecting candidates for directorships:

Reputation for integrity;

Accomplishment, experience and reputation in the relevant industry
and other relevant sectors;

Commitment in respect of sufficient time, interest and attention to the
Company's business;

Diversity in all aspects, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural
and educational background, experience (professional or otherwise),
skills and knowledge;

The ability to assist and support management and make significant
contributions to the Company's success;

Compliance with the criteria of independence as prescribed under Rule
3.13 of the Listing Rules for the appointment of an independent non-

executive Director; and

Any other relevant factors as may be determined by the Committee or
the Board from time to time.
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Each proposed new appointment, election or re-election of a Director shall be
assessed and/or considered against the criteria and qualifications set out in
the Nomination Policy by the Nomination Committee which shall recommend
its views to the Board and/or the shareholders for consideration and
determination.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Lee Kai Ming, was appointed as the company secretary on 12 December
2019. The company secretary reports to the chief executive officer directly and
is responsible to the Board for ensuring that the Board procedures, applicable
laws, rules and regulations are followed as well as the Board activities are
efficiently and effectively conducted. He is also responsible for ensuring that
the Board is fully appraised of the relevant corporate governance
developments relating to the Group and facilitating the induction and
professional development of the Directors. During the Year, Mr. Lee Kai Ming
has undertaken no less than 15 hours of relevant professional training in
accordance with Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS’ AND AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for overseeing the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements of the Group for the Year, which give
a true and fair view of the financial position of the Group on a going concern
basis and are in compliance with the relevant accounting standard and
principles, applicable laws and disclosure provisions of the Listing Rules. The
Directors aim to present a clear and understandable assessment of the
Group's financial position and prospects. The Board is not aware of any
material uncertainties relating to events or conditions that may cast significant
doubt upon the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.

The responsibilities of the external auditors with respect to the financial
reporting are set out in the “Independent Auditor’s Report” of this annual
report.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROLS

One of the major functions of the Board is to maintain an adequate risk
management and internal control systems to safeguard shareholders’
investments and the Group's assets, and reviewing their effectiveness annually
through the Audit Committee. The Audit Committee reports to the Board on
any material issues and makes recommendations to the Board.
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ERELIRE

Policies and procedures have been designed to safeguard assets against
unauthorised use or disposition, ensure the maintenance of proper
accounting records for the provision of reliable financial information for
internal use or for publication, and ensure compliance with applicable law,
rules and regulations. The policies and procedures provide a reasonable
assurance that material misstatements or losses are prevented, potential
interruption of the Group’s management system is detected, and risks existing
in the course of arriving at the Group's objectives are properly managed.

During the Year, the Company engaged an external independent consulting
firm to review the effectiveness of certain of the Group’s risk management and
internal controls systems. Relevant recommendations made by the consultant
have already been implemented in stages by the Group to further enhance its
internal control policies, procedures and practices. The Board considered that
the Group's risk management and internal control systems were effective and
adequate during the Year.

The Group has conducted an annual review on whether there is a need for an
internal audit department. Given the Group's relatively simple corporate and
operation structure, as opposed to diverting resources to establish a separate
internal audit department, the Board, supported by the Audit Committee, is
directly responsible for risk management and internal control systems of the
Group and for reviewing its effectiveness.

AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION

For the Year, Ernst & Young was engaged as the Group's independent
auditors. The statement of the auditors of the Company about their reporting
responsibilities on the Group’s consolidated financial statements for the Year
is set out in the “Independent Auditor’'s Report” of this annual report. During
the Year, the remuneration paid or payable to the Company’s auditors, Ernst &
Young, and its affiliated firms, in respect of their audit and non-audit services
was as follows:
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Audit services
Non-audit services:
Agreed-upon procedures of unaudited interim
financial information
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DIRECTORS AND OFFICERS INSURANCE

Appropriate insurance covers on Directors' liabilities have been in force to
protect the Directors and officers of the Group from their risk exposure from
the business of the Group.

INVESTOR RELATIONS AND COMMUNICATION WITH
SHAREHOLDERS

The Board recognises the importance of good communication with all
shareholders. The Company believes that maintaining a high level of
transparency is a key to enhance investor relations.

The Company has established several communication channels, including (a)
the annual and extraordinary general meetings which provide a forum for
shareholders to communicate directly with the Board; (b) printed corporate
documents mailing to shareholders; (c) announcement disseminating the
latest activities of the Group on the websites of the Company and the Stock
Exchange; and (d) the Company’s website providing an electronic means of
communication.

SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

Procedures for Shareholders to convene an EGM

The following procedures for shareholders to convene an extraordinary
general meeting ("EGM") are subject to the Articles of Association (as
amended from time to time), and the applicable legislations and regulations,
in particular the Listing Rules (as amended from time to time):

(@)  Pursuant to article 58 of the Articles of Association, any one or more
shareholders holding at the date of deposit of the requisition not less
than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company (the "Eligible
Shareholder(s)") carrying the right of voting at general meetings of
the Company shall at all times have the right, by written requisition to
the Board or the Company Secretary, to require an EGM to be called by
the Board for the transaction of any business specified in such
requisition; and such meeting shall be held within two months after the
deposit of such requisition;

ERELIRS

EERERAERRE

REFAREZETRRNAERBRE AR
UREREEEERSRABRTANEE XK
HIRRR -

REEMARENERRNER

EZgRAE2ERRARBREFBANESR
tE e ARABRBRFRDEREIINBREERH
REVEESE -

ARRERYETAEBRE BREOBRRBF
RERBEREBHIARE  BERREHRERRES
ERXMZEE b)) FETHRRZABEIRAX
i ORARFB LB RS HAERE 2 &
MEBBAZAE  RAOARFBIRHEET
BT e

IR A

BRRBEARRIBGHIAENERF
THBERARBERENIAE (RREBIAE])
MR EABERZAA (B TEHERT) RE A
EPIFOER (R RIZ LR A (B ERHERT)) PR
PR -

(@ REFMEABERAAEBHE  RFRFELK
EEARKEMTENAIRARBBRRK
EEREZARABERARNDR+D
Z—2ER—2AZERR(EEERR
R EREBERODEFSALAMEEL
EEFRE  BREZSHEERBHL
ETREAZENEHARBRRERAE
KB RERAKGARFHRABERE
BmEARERT

ANNUAL REPORT 2020/21 - — B = F/— —FFf 39



Corporate Governance Report
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TERELHS
(b)  The written requisition must state the purposes of the meeting, signed

40

by the Eligible Shareholder(s) and deposited to the Board or the
Company Secretary at the Company's principal place of business at Flat
A & D, 4/F, Phase 1, Kwai Shing Industrial Building, 36-40 Tai Lin Pai
Road, Kwai Chung, New Territories Hong Kong, and such may consist of
several documents in like form, each signed by one or more
requisitionists;

The requisition must state clearly the name of the Eligible Shareholder(s)
concerned, his/her/their shareholding, the reason(s) to convene an EGM
and the details of the business(es) proposed to be transacted in the
EGM, and must be signed by the Eligible Shareholder(s) concerned
together with a deposit of a sum of money reasonable sufficient to
meet the Company's expenses in serving the notice of the resolution
and circulating the statement submitted by the shareholders concerned
in accordance with the statutory requirements to all the registered
shareholders;

The requisition will be verified with Hong Kong branch share registrar
and transfer office of the Company and upon their confirmation that
the requisition is proper and in order, the Board will convene an EGM by
serving sufficient notice in accordance with the requirements under the
Articles to all the registered shareholders. On the contrary, if the
requisition has been verified as not in order or the shareholders
concerned have failed to deposit sufficient money to meet the
Company’s expenses for the said purposes, the Eligible Shareholder(s)
concerned will be advised of this outcome and accordingly, the Board
will not call for an EGM; and

If within 21 days of such deposit the Board fails to proceed to convene
such meeting the Eligible Shareholder(s) himself/herself/themselves
may do so in the same manner, and all reasonable expenses incurred by
the Eligible Shareholder(s) as a result of the failure of the Board shall be
reimbursed to the Eligible Shareholder(s) by the Company.
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Corporate Governance Report

Procedures by which enquiries may be put to the Board
Shareholders may, at any time, direct enquiries to the Board. Such enquiries
can be addressed to the Company Secretary in writing by mail to the
Company's principal place of business in Hong Kong at Flat A & D, 4/F, Phase 1,
Kwai Shing Industrial Building, 36-40 Tai Lin Pai Road, Kwai Chung, New
Territories Hong Kong.

Procedures for putting forward proposals at shareholders’
meeting

There are no provisions in the Articles of Association or the Companies Law of
the Cayman Islands for Shareholders to put forward proposals at general
meetings of the Company. Shareholders who wish to put forward proposals
may request the Company to convene an extraordinary general meeting in
accordance with the procedures set out above.

SIGNIFICANT CHANGES IN CONSTITUTIONAL
DOCUMENTS

During the Year, there were no changes to the constitutional documents of
the Company.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

BE  HERELIRS

INTRODUCTION

Wah Wo Holdings Group Limited and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to
as the "Group”) is principally an established contractor engaged in facade
works with a focus on window in Hong Kong. Facade works can be classified
into window, window wall system, curtain wall system and other facade
members. We principally provide design and build services for new buildings
and renovation services for built premises. Our services generally include
developing designs, conducting structural calculations and preparing shop
drawings, as well as management and coordination of various aspects of a
project which involve procurements of building materials from materials
suppliers and/or subcontracting of installation works to our subcontractors,
on-site project management and post-project completion and maintenance
services.

The Group incorporates environmental, social and governance ("ESG")
approaches into its daily management to achieve the optimum balance on its
economic performance, environmental protection, social responsibility, and
stakeholder satisfaction.

The board is fully committed to formulating and implementing ESG strategies.
Its ESG performance is supervised by the board members. Relevant risks and
opportunities have been embedded into the Group's strategic goals, which
are also closely aligned with the overall mission and vision on sustainability.
While developing the Group's goals, we firmly adhered to principles of good
corporate governance and had carefully considered our activities’ influences
on the environment and the Hong Kong society. Corporate social
responsibilities were also integrated into the Group's business strategy and
management approach.

The Group is delighted to present the Environmental, Social and Governance
Report ("ESG Report’) for the year ended 31 March 2021 ("Reporting
Period") in the following to illustrate and highlight our efforts and
performance in achieving sustainable development in both the environment
and social aspects.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

ABOUT THIS REPORT

This ESG Report has been prepared in accordance with the Environmental,
Social and Governance Reporting Guide as set out in Appendix 27 of the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited ("‘ESG Reporting Guide”), with the aim to inform relevant parties and
stakeholders of our policies, measures and performance regarding
environmental, social and governance issues. To ensure a comprehensive ESG
reporting, we would continuously take note of different ESG issues and assess
their relevance to our ESG reporting.

We recognize the importance of quality control and has established an
adequate quality management system. The quality management system of
the Group for the design, supply and installation of aluminum works is
accredited by Hong Kong Quality Assurance Agency with the standards of the
International Organization for Standardization (“ISO") 9001:2015 on 28
November 2013 and the certificate will be valid until 27 November 2022. We
have in-house quality assurance requirements specifying, inter alia, specific
work procedures for performing various types of works and responsibilities of
personnel of different levels. Our staff is required to comply with these quality
assurance requirements.

To safeguard our employees and other stakeholders against health and safety
risks associated with our operations, out of our project management team
members, four of them were qualified to act as safety supervisors and had
completed the construction industry safety supervisor course held by the
Construction Industry Council or the safety & health supervisor (construction)
course held by the Occupational Health & Safety Council as at the Latest
Practicable Date.

We pay due regards to compliance with laws and regulations that is relevant
to our Group. At the same time, to uphold our corporate socially
responsibilities, we care for our community members by actively participate in
public welfare or charity events.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

BE  HERELIRS

ENVIRONMENTAL

The Group is committed to complying with laws and regulations regarding
environmental protection. It adopts effective measures to achieve resource
efficiency, energy saving, and waste reduction. To reduce its impacts on the
environment, the Group implements green office practices such as
encouraging the use of recycled paper for printing and copying, double-sided
printing and copying, and reducing energy consumption by switching off
idling lights, air conditioners, and other electrical appliances. The Group strictly
complies with applicable laws and regulations concerning environmental
protection and pollution control, including, but not limited to: Air Pollution
Control Ordinance, Noise Control Ordinance, and Waste Disposal Ordinance.

No material non-compliance with relevant laws and regulations relating to air
and greenhouse gas emissions, discharges into water and land, and
generation of hazardous and non-hazardous waste had been identified during
the Reporting Period.

A1. Emissions
A1.1: Air Emissions
The office did not generate direct air emissions. Renovation works
carried out by sub-contractors may generate some indoor air
pollutants, and the liability shall be borne by the sub-contractors.
Meanwhile, the Group has deployed project managers at the site
to supervise sub-contractors’ work.

A1.2: Greenhouse Gas (“GHG") Emissions

Emissions from the Group were generated mainly from the
consumption of mobile fuel (i.e. gasoline for the Group-owned
vehicles). The Group-owned vehicles consuming fuel were used
for daily business operations. Their combustion generated several
air emissions including Nitrogen Oxides, Sulphur Oxides, and
Respiratory Suspended Particles. Due to lack of data, only
Nitrogen Oxides and Respiratory Suspended Particles could be
calculated. The following presents the Group’s Greenhouse Gas
("“GHG") emissions for the Reporting Period:
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A1.3:

A1.4:

A1.5

A1.6

Environmental, Social and Governance Report

GHG emissions from use of vehicles:

Aspects 1.1 Unit
EBE1.1 B
Nitrogen Oxides gram
=Kl e =)
Respiratory Suspended Particles gram
AR AR E RRRL ) I

Hazardous Waste

The Group did not generate a significant amount of hazardous
waste due to its business nature. Thus, no data was recorded, and
no policy has been formulated.

Non-hazardous Waste

During the Reporting Period, the Group complied with the Waste
Disposal Ordinance and did not aware there was material non-
hazardous waste generated (2020: 46.4 tonnes), given that the
waste disposal was mainly born by main contractors. The major
category of non-hazardous waste generated by main contractors
includes construction and demolition (C&D) waste.

Measures to Mitigate Emissions

To reduce emissions from vehicles, employees are encouraged to
take public transports. The Group plans schedule and arranges
the route of its vehicles to avoid unnecessary travel and/or
congestion. To reduce its emissions relating to business travel,
the Group avoids non-essential business travel and encourages
employees to take low-emissions travelling methods.

Wastes Reduction and Initiatives

The Group has developed Green Office Practice to encourage
wise use of resources while promoting waste reduction at source.
The Group promotes paperless office — documents and
information are transmitted electronically to avoid paper
consumption. When printing is inevitable, paper should be
printed on both sides whenever possible. The Group also
encourages employees to recycle paper, plastic bottle and tin
can. No formal policy on waste reduction has been established to
regulate its sub-contractors. Nevertheless, they are encouraged
to reduce waste and reuse resources to minimize the
environmental impacts
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B HEREARE
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Use of Resources

A2.1: Energy Consumption
The following presents the Group's direct energy consumption
for the Reporting Period:

Direct Energy Consumption in total and intensity:

Aspects 2.1 Unit

[T 2.1 By

Electricity Usage KWh
g TELE

Electricity Usage Intensity kWh/office
AELE FRE/ WA

A2.2 Energy Use Efficiency Initiatives

The Group believes that reducing energy use could be mutually
beneficial to the environment and the Group by reducing the
operating costs and creating long-term value to its stakeholders.
The Group encourages employees to switch off electrical
appliances whenever not in use and all unnecessary lighting, air
conditioners, and electrical appliances before they leave the

office.

A2.3 Waster Consumption and Packaging Material
Owing to the nature of our operations, other than the
consumption of drinking water, our operations do not require the
use of water or raw materials. There is also an absence of packing
materials involved in our operations. As such, the Group has not
placed emphasis on the development of policies in these areas.

The Environmental and Natural Resources

The Group believes that corporate development should not come at
the expense of the environment. By integrating environmental
consideration into our business strategies, we aim to be an
environmentally sustainable enterprise. In the coming years, we would
continue promoting GHG emission reduction, energy and water
resource conservation and efficient use of natural resources. We believe
that not only can raising environmental awareness and reinforcing the
positive behavioral changes bring benefits to our financial situation, but
also to the future generations.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

SOCIAL

B1.

Employment and Labor Practices

The Group stringently complies with national and local laws and
regulations concerning employment and labor practices, including but
not limited to the Employment Ordinance, the General Holiday
Ordinance, the Disability Discrimination Ordinance, and the Race
Discrimination Ordinance.

B1.1: Employment Policies

Employees are our most invaluable assets. It is our priority to
ensure that the occupational health and safety of all employees,
subcontractor workers and the surrounding communities to our
construction sites is adequately maintained. Our comprehensive
Safety Management Plan provides a framework for monitoring
and evaluating the implementation of our safety policies and
measures. We further strive to continuously improve our
workplace safety policies in accordance with guidance received
from the Labor Department from time to time.

[t is also our aim to enhance the well-being and development of
our employees. As an equal opportunity employer, the Group has
put in place policies to ensure that it treats all employees on an
equal footing in matters related to, among others, recruitment,
promotion, appraisals, discipline, remuneration and benefits,
compensation and dismissal, and working hours and rest periods.
An employee’s age, gender, family status, sexual orientation,
physical disability, ethnicity and religion would not affect his
career with us. During the Reporting Period, we received no
complaints regarding discrimination issues from any of our
stakeholders. Needless to say, we ensured that no child nor forced
labor was employed by the Group.

Apart from providing competitive remuneration and benefits, we
continue to support and nurture our employees through staff
development and training programmes.

The Group has devised a staff handbook for its employees to
understand important information relating to the Group’s human
resources policies, rules, and work ethics surrounding
employment. It is an essential tool in helping to define the
expectations of both the management and the employees, and
also to protect them from unfair and/or inconsistent treatment
and discrimination.
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BE  HERELIRS

48

B1.2: Health and Safety

The management of the Group is responsible for the overall
health and safety of employees. The Group strictly follows
relevant laws and regulations such as the Occupational Safety
and Health Ordinance. There was no material non-compliance
with the applicable laws and regulations relating to occupational
health and safety which had material impact to the Group.

We place emphasis on occupational health and work safety and
provide safety training to our staff covering topics such as our
safety measures and procedures for reporting accidents. Due to
the nature of works, risks of accidents or injuries to workers are
inherent. The Group understands that preventive measures are
way more important than reactive measures. Therefore, sufficient
first-aid boxes have been equipped in the office area in case any
emergencies happen and also we devised a safety management
plan to govern our workers and subcontractors. Looking ahead,
we would continue to promote occupational health and safety to
its employees and avoid any work injury or accident by all means.

Work injuries will be reported according to our internal guidelines
which was set up with reference to the work injury reporting
requirement by the Labor Department. Based on our safety
management plan, we ensured safety and health of our
employees in connection with the use, handling, storage and
transport of articles and substances; providing all necessary
information, instructions, training and supervision for ensuring
safety and health; providing and maintaining safe access to and
egress from the workplaces; and providing and maintaining a safe
and healthy working environment.

During the Reporting Period, 5 incidents of work injuries arose,
which led to 1,169 lost labor days (FY2020: 2 incidents of work
injuries occurred, which led to 387 lost labor days). The Group is
pleased to report that no fatality cases occurred during the
Reporting Period.

Our board of directors are responsible for overseeing our Group’s
health and safety management system to ensure our compliance
with the relevant statutory requirements. A safety committee
meeting is held on a monthly basis with our foremen for
reviewing the health and safety issues related to our operations.
Under the direction of our safety officer, our foremen are
responsible for monitoring on-site implementation of our safety
management system.
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B1.4

Environmental, Social and Governance Report

Development and Training

The knowledge and skill levels of our employees are vital to the
Group's success, and hence we provide sufficient training and
development programmes to allow them to excel at their work.

Our training programmes range from professional and technical
training to personal development skills and our employees are
required to attend an induction training to ensure they
thoroughly understood the Group's safety and health policies. In
addition, the Group provides adequate job and safety training to
employees to equip them with the required safety knowledge
and work skills to tackle situations and challenges to be
encountered at diverse work sites. During the Reporting Period,
the average training hours of each employee were approximately
69 hours (FY2020: 76 hours).

Labor Standards

The Group strictly complies with relevant laws and regulations
such as Employment Ordinance and the Disability Discrimination
Ordinance of the Laws of Hong Kong. Background checks were
conducted for new employees to ensure that no teenagers under
the statutory minimum working age would be employed. All
employees must provide their personal identity documents to
prove their ages and identities. During the Reporting Period, no
material case of non-compliance with local child and forced labor
related laws and regulations were noted.

B2. Operating Practices
B2.1:

Supply Chain Management

As mentioned, our quality management system which governs
our daily operation for quality control and improvement meets
the requirements of ISO 9001:2015. Our internal policies and thus
the procurement process are governed by this standard. We
maintain an approved suppliers list set up by the board of
directors. Only suppliers meeting our stringent quality standards
can be added to the list for our purchases.
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RIR

50

Under our policies, the Group would only purchase supplies from
these approved suppliers to ensure quality of our purchases.
Further, with reference to the quality requirement of our
construction projects, our project staff or the directors would also
pay visits to suppliers to communicate our requirements, while at
the same time inspect the suppliers” warehouse to conduct a
sample check on the quality of the goods. Upon reception of
goods at project sites, the project supervisors are responsible for
the inspection of the delivered goods to ensure they can meet
our quality requirements before settling payment.

For subcontractors’ quality management, similar to that of
purchasing, we maintain a list of approved subcontractors.
Regular inspection on the quality of works and progress as
delivered by our subcontractors would be performed by our
project supervisors. We have made it clear to our subcontractors
that compliance with the labor laws and regulations is mandatory
when handling safety and employment matters at construction
sites.

During the Review Year, the Group did not identify any non-
compliances in relation to safety and labor laws and regulations.

B2.2: Product Responsibility

The Group is committed to providing better services to the
citizens and creating higher return for the stakeholders. As
construction contractor, the Group addresses the significance of
public health during the construction work.

B2.3: Anti-corruption

Over the years, we have witnessed no incidences of suspected or
actual bribery, extortion, fraud and money laundering activities
occurring within the Group. We stand firmly by our anti-
corruption policies and procurement practices as stated in our
internal manuals which comply with applicable laws. Acceptance
of kickbacks, commissions or any form of benefit is strictly
prohibited during any procurement exercise, contract negotiation
or other business dealings.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

Our manuals also outline guidance over conflicts of interest,
intellectual property rights, privacy and information
confidentiality, bribery and corruption, and equal opportunities.

Gift policy in our internal manuals clearly states the required
process and procedure for handling and accepting gifts and
advantages.

During the Reporting Period, we noted no incidences of fraud or
corruption occurring within the Group, and fully complied with
laws and regulations related to anti-bribery and corruption.

B3. Community
B3.1: Community Investment
The Group strives to implement corporate social responsibility
and actively participates in public welfare activities. No formal
policy on community investment has been established.
Nevertheless, during the Reporting Period, the Group has actively
encouraged its employees to participate in various charitable
events.

Owing to the nature of our business, we are not required to label
any products or to advertise our services. Further, we generally do
not handle personal data and, as such, are exposed to minimal
risks of breaching privacy laws.

FUTURE APPROACH TO SUSTAINABLE
DEVELOPMENT

In the future, we will:

Continue to raise our staff and subcontractors’ awareness in relation to
environmental protection;

maintain the highest standards for occupational health and safety to
protect our staff members and the communities located in the vicinity
of our operations; and

further extend our care to the community by participating in more
charity services.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
3L 1% BED 3R

e
EY::

To the shareholders of Wah Wo Holdings Group Limited
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Wah Wo Holdings
Group Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) set out on
pages 59 to 135, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial
position as at 31 March 2021, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in
equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended,
and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of
significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view
of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 March 2021, and of
its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the
year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
("HKFRSs") issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
("HKICPA") and have been properly prepared in compliance with the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing ("HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those
standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of
the consolidated financial statements section of our report. We are independent
of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the audit
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our opinion.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were
of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements of
the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit
of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.
For each matter below, our description of how our audit addressed the matter
is provided in that context.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s responsibilities
for the audit of the consolidated financial statements section of our report,
including in relation to these matters. Accordingly, our audit included the
performance of procedures designed to respond to our assessment of the
risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements. The
results of our audit procedures, including the procedures performed to
address the matters below, provide the basis for our audit opinion on the
accompanying consolidated financial statements.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
3L 1% BED 3R

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Key Audit Matter
BRETEE

BEETEE )

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
BMETR BN REEMRERIEE

Assessment of expected credit losses (“ECLs”) of trade receivables and contract assets

TEESEUS ARG EENAREEES ([FAHEEEE])

We have performed the following procedures in relation to the ECLs of
trade receivables and contract assets:

BB B RUMHIE R A DB EN TR ERERAAITNEF I

As at 31 March 2021, the carrying amounts of trade
receivables and contract assets were approximately,
HK$60.6 million and HK$44.9 million, respectively, which
in aggregate represented about 40% of the Group's total
assets.

K221 538310 ESRKFIBARANEENR
HED A ROAEETRMMIBEET &1
1t BEEEEEAEN40% -

Significant management judgement is required to assess
the recoverability of trade receivables and contract assets.
Management performed a detailed analysis which
considered customers’ ageing profile, credit history,
historical payment pattern and forecast economic
conditions for the estimation of ECLs on its trade
receivables and contract assets.

HEEZRYRIERENEEN T WEIMFRER
BEEHE  EEECELFANT - EEEPHEK
BRAES  EERSE  BEMRUE R RIER LB
o AMEAESREFEARANEENTEREERS

B

The accounting policies, significant accounting
judgement and estimate, and disclosures for the
recoverability of contract assets and trade receivables are
included in notes 2.4, 3, 15 and 16 to the consolidated
financial statements, respectively.
BHEANEENE S RYWGIAN AT @R & 5K

T EGHE RATTARKED RIE R GFES B
BIREMEE24 3 15%16°
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(i)

engaging our internal valuation expert to review management’s
calculation model on the ECLs of trade receivables and contract
assets and test the underlying information including the historical
payment records, credit history and credit rating of the Group's
customers, if available;
EHEBRMNABEEER RN EREEEE HERWTIERE
WEENTRHEEERBIERL  YARAEEER 8
B ESETPHBEMNREE  ERRESERERTAM
B):

testing the ageing of trade receivables at the end of the reporting
period on a sample basis;

ORI RS HIRE 5 RUGRIE R RRER

benchmarking the forecast economic conditions (i.e., gross
domestic product) against public available information; and
RIFAFESEIRALENR (AIBERNEERE) EITEE
tE &

reviewing the arithmetic accuracy of the calculation of the ECLs.

EHEBEEERIENEMERE -



Independent Auditor’s Report

OTHER INFORMATION INCLUDED IN THE ANNUAL
REPORT

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information. The
other information comprises the information included in the Annual Report,
other than the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report
thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the
other information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion
thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider
whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise
appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed,
we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information,
we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance
with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the
directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to
fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of the
Company are responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and
using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors of the
Company either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations or have
no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit Committee in
discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the Group's financial reporting
process.

RVR A

TERFERSANELESR

BERREEFHHEMENEER - HBEH B
HERFEREANGEE - ETEESEETH
WR B PINZEED RS o

BMEGEAMBRERNERL NEERAME
ko RETFAEZEFEMERBEREMEADN
BB o

BRRMYREMBHRENES  RANEE
ERERMER - FLBRET  EEEMER
R B EWHERR KB AR BESAE
BB FEEAEBEEE AT FEERER
BRORE BN » ZRIPIERITH TR - K H A
RAEMERFEEAERRL - RAFT2
EZREE - WAL EERETARE -

ESRREYBBRREARENER

BERREZARERBEE BGOSR MDN
(BAMBHREER) REECA BRG] R HE
RERBEEMPENERAMBEERE  LHE
RRREREMBREOBRE T FHE BRI

ERBHRAMBERRE . BERAREZFARHW
f EREFELENEN  WHEERBRLT
BREAKELLHRNER  URERFERL
BRETER RIF BERAREFEAEL =
SEFRYFILEE  SFIBEECERNER

o
E

ERZBEWY ERREFETRE B
B EEENMEmEBE-

ANNUAL REPORT 2020/21 - — B = F/— —FFf 55



Independent Auditor’s Report
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report
that includes our opinion. Our report is made solely to you, as a body, and for
no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability
to any other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that
an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and
are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on
the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We
also:

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design
and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain
audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting
from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may
involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or
the override of internal control.

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in
order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the

reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made
by the directors.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(continued)

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained,
whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions
that may cast significant doubt on the Group's ability to continue as a
going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are
required to draw attention in our auditor's report to the related
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to
cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group
audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other matters,
the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings,
including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during
our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence and to
communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable,
actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
3L 1% BED 3R

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(continued)

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we determine
those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit
matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely
rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated
in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would
reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s
report is Leung Chi Kit.

Ernst & Young
Certified Public Accountants

27/F, One Taikoo Place
979 King's Road
Quarry Bay

Hong Kong

28 June 2021
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

FERaREMZENRE

Yearended 31 March 2021 &2 2021 % 3 A 31 H IEF &

2021 2020
20215 2020 4F
HK$'000 HKS'000
FET TF&TT
REVENUE Wz 5 350,847 245,474
Cost of sales HEXA 7 (329,466) (184,554)
Gross profit EF 21,381 60,920
Other income and gain E bl A K zs 5 5,194 1,265
Administrative expenses THRAX (15,734) (26,645)
Reversal of provision/(provision) for BEE R EE R,
impairment loss allowances, net (B F58 (2,424) 432
Finance costs & KA 6 (107) (116)
PROFIT BEFORE TAX RRBE AR R 7 8,310 35,856
Income tax expense R8RS 10 (2,358) (8,206)
PROFIT AND TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE FRERANARZEAWEEE
INCOME FOR THE YEAR 5,952 27,650
EARNINGS PER SHARE ARARERERERSEAERN
ATTRIBUTABLE TO ORDINARY SRER
EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE
COMPANY HKO0.60 cent HK3.45 cents
Basic and diluted AEARREE 12 0.60 /&1l 345784l
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

e MBRAR

31'March 2021 202143 A31H

2021 2020
20215 2020 4F
HK$'000 HKS'000
FET TFETT
NON-CURRENT ASSETS IRBEE
Property, plant and equipment ME - WENMEKRE 13 6,135 872
Right-of-use assets FREEE 14 3,076 742
Deposits b ecia 17 461 143
Deferred tax asset EEFIAE E 23 302 -
Total non-current assets ImBEELE 9,974 1,757
CURRENT ASSETS RBEE
Contract assets ABHEBE 15 44,916 53,441
Trade receivables E 5 WA 16 60,612 6,829
Prepayments, deposits and other TERTFIE « e KA MR
receivables RIE 17 31,195 9,021
Tax recoverable Al Y O 8 5,446 -
Pledged deposits HIRER 19 29,231 4416
Cash and cash equivalents B MBS EEIER 19 84,835 182,117
Total current assets MENEERE 256,235 255,824
CURRENT LIABILITIES REEE
Contract liability EHaE 15 944 -
Trade and retention payables B 5 ER A N ERRE S 20 11,311 6,927
Other payable and accruals HEMENFIARETER 2] 1,889 5,236
Lease liabilities HEAE 14 1,530 468
Tax payable JERTFRIE - 109
Provisions for rectification works By TR BB 22 7,119 8,950
Total current liabilities MEBAERE 22,793 21,690
NET CURRENT ASSETS REBEEFE 233,442 234,134
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES #AEERRBEE 243,416 235,891
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
e MBI RAE

31 March2021 202143 A 31 H

2021 2020
20215 2020 4F
HK$'000 HKS'000
FET T
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FnBAE
Lease liabilities HEBE 14 1,720 279
Deferred tax liability RIEFRIBAE 23 227 95
Total non-current liabilities ERBRERRE 1,947 374
Net assets BEFE 241,469 235517
EQUITY =
Equity attributable to owners of the Company (8B RAANA A AMER
Issued capital B EITIRA 24 10,000 10,000
Reserves B 25 231,469 225,517
Total equity RS 241,469 235517
Chen Yuet Wa Chan Fai
PR i PR E
Director Director
E3 £

ANNUAL REPORT 2020/21 - =& — &/~ —FF4f 61



Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
GeEREERXR

Year ended 31 March 2021 &2 2021 %3 A 31 HIEFE

Attributable to owners of the Company
BERELTAHEBA
Share
Issued  premium Merger  Retained
capital account reserve profits Total

ERTRE ROBEER A&O0HFEE KREEA st
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
B s THT FHET FHET FET FAT
(note 25(b))
(P FE25(b))

At 1 April 2019 201964718 - - 20 106,478 106,498

Profit and total comprehensive 4 3% A1} 2 AR

income for the year FEXfE] - - - 27,650 27,650
Capitalisation issue BAR{CETT 24(b) 7,500 (7,500) - -
Issue of shares under initial BEERAHEE

public offering BT (D 24(c) 2,500 122,500 - - 125,000
Share issue expenses BRDETHRZ - (23,631) - - (23,631)
At 31 March 2020 and at R20206F3A318 K

1 April 2020 202004 A1H 10,000 91,369* 20% 134,128* 235517
Profit and total comprehensive R F R 2 E U

income for the year “®iE - - - 5,952 5952
At 31 March 2021 R2021%3A31H 10,000 91,369 207 140080 241469

* These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of HK$231,469,000 (2020:  * ZEREEPRRBRBEAVBEURARPNGEEREE
HK$225,517,000) in the consolidated statement of financial position. 231,469,000 7 7T (2020 4F © 225,517,000/ 7T) ©

62 Wah Wo Holdings Group Limited - ZEFZ A& £ B G R A 7]



Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

FERfRER

Yearended 31 March 2021 &2 2021 % 3 A 31 H IEF &

2021 2020
20214 2020 F
HK$’000 HK$'000
THET FHIT
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING RETHFERERE
ACTIVITIES
Profit before tax FR 15 A& A 8,310 35,856
Adjustments for: AT AR
Finance costs BhE A 6 107 116
Bank interest income FRITH BN 5 (1,228) (969)
Depreciation of property, W - BB NERETE
plant and equipment 7 1,314 337
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FHREEEITE 7 1,269 416
Loss on lease modification HERiEEE 156 -
Provision/(reversal of provision) for ASWBERERE
impairment of contract assets, net (BE¥ L) F5E 7 947 (280)
Provision/(reversal of provision) for B SR IEmErRE
impairment of trade receivables, net (B o)) H5E 7 1,477 (152)
12,352 35,324
Decrease in contract assets BHEERD 7,578 17,491
Decrease/(increase) in trade receivables B SR IER L, (3 n) (55,260) 13,441
Increase in prepayments, deposits and TERTFRIE ~ iR REAMEK
other receivables IR HN (22,492) (3.077)
Increase/(decrease) in contract liability AWadEEmn Crd) 944 (1,247)
Increase/(decrease) in trade and retention B RENFENENRES
payables #nCrd) 4,384 (6,328)
Increase/(decrease) in other payable and A R A FR0E K JE AT B g,
accruals ORA) (3,347) 3373
Changes in provisions for rectification works BN TEREES (1,831) 1,172
Cash generated from/(used in) operations WESEEATS(FTA)IRE (57,672) 60,149
Interest paid EfFIE (107) (116)
Hong Kong profits tax paid ERNBEENGEH (8,083) (10,335)
Net cash flows generated from/(used in) EEEE (TR ReRE
operating activities HER (65,862) 49,698
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES REZBFISRETE
Interest received [=REESS 1,228 969
Purchases of items of property, EEYE  BELXEEER
plant and equipment 13 (6,577) (112)
Increase in pledged deposits R UL N (24,815) (9,170)
Decrease in non-pledged time deposits with RESEREIHEBB=1EA
original maturity more than three BIEE R BETOR D
months when acquired 4,634 -
Repayment from a director BEEEXN = 11,689
Advance to a director M—HBEEBHN - (5,825)

ANNUAL REPORT 2020/21 - — B = F/— —FFf 63



Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

REBeRiER

Year ended 31 March 2021 &2 2021 %3 A 31 HIEFE

2021 2020
20214 20204
HK$’000 HK$'000
THET FHIT
Net cash flows used in investing activities KEETHMBRESREFHE (25,530) (2,449)
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES BtEEZEIFFBIRERE
Proceeds from issue of shares BT TS SRR 24(c) - 125,000
Share issue expenses AR EITH X - (23,631)
Repayment of bank loans BERITEN = (5,864)
Payments of lease liabilities HEBBENK (1,256) (426)
Net cash flows generated from/(used in) mEFEE (A R:
financing activities mEFE (1,256) 95,079
NET INCREASE/(DECREASE) INCASHAND RE&FRHSZ%EIER
CASH EQUIVALENTS B, O (92,648) 142,328
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year F#IHNIR & MRS ZEEHE 167,483 25,155
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS FARANRESREELEEER
AT END OF YEAR 74,835 167,483
ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF CASH AND REeERRESEHBERDIN
CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash and bank balances & MIRTTH 8 74,835 67,483
Non-pledged time deposits SEEHE T 10,000 114,634
Cash and cash equivalents as stated in the A AR R,
consolidated statement of financial position B RIBeEEEE 19 84,835 182,117
Non-pledged time deposits with original RESK R EFEA=EA
maturity of more than three months A ERISEBRE BT
when acquired (10,000) (14,634)
Cash and cash equivalents as stated in the SERERERFIFEE X
consolidated statement of cash flows HeEEEBEHR 74,835 167,483
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Notes to the Financial Statements

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

Wah Wo Holdings Group Limited is a limited liability company
incorporated in the Cayman Islands. The principal place of business of
the Company is located at Flat A & D, 4/F, Phase 1, Kwai Shing Industrial
Building, 36-40 Tai Lin Pai Road, Kwai Chung, New Territories, Hong
Kong.

During the year, the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively referred
to as the “Group”) were principally engaged in the provision of
aluminium works related services and the trading of tools and
equipment.

The shares of the Company were listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) on 17 January
2020 (the “Listing”).

In the opinion of the directors, the immediate and the ultimate holding
company of the Company is Ornate Bright Limited, a company
incorporated in the British Virgin Islands (“BVI").

Information about subsidiaries
Particulars of the Company's principal subsidiaries are as follows:

Place of
incorporation/
registration and

Issued
ordinary
share capital
ERTEER

business

AL/
BRRERLH S

Sino Keen Limited BVI/Hong Kong Uss2
EHARRA KBEARS/BE 2ETT
Mega Brim Limited BVI/Hong Kong USS1
Mega Brim Limited RBRIHEE/ B (E
Wah Wo Aluminium Work Hong Kong HK$10,000
Company Limited
EMRETRERARF BE 10000787T
Wah Kee (R&M) Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000
ETHEBRRA B 1000078 7T

1.
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RAREEER

ENEREEER A BERSEET
MR BERETRAR - ARFIMNEEZL
0 BRI BN BB TR BB R E BEE 36-40
FERTERNEH4EARDE -

RER  AEBEREKE QR (A TRRE
[AEE]) TENERHRE TRAMMR
BAREETARRZME -

KRB MHR2020F1 B17BEE BB
ARXRGHERAR (B ERET
(TEmp -

EERR  AARNEE RGRER AT
7 Ornate Bright Limited * —5RREBR K
HE((REBELHS MR AT -

TEKEQRANER
ARBEBRHBARFBOT

Percentage of equity

BERFAANESAEDL

attributable

to the Company Principal activities

TEEEEE
Direct Indirect

HE B

100 - Investment holding

REZR

100 - Investment holding

RERR
- 100  Provision of aluminium
works related services and
trading of tools and
equipment
RARE TRAERBUR
BEETERGE

- 100 Provision of aluminium

works related services

RREGRE TR
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Notes to the Financial Statements
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2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION

66

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards ("HKFRSs") (which include all
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting
Standards ("HKASs") and Interpretations) issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA"), accounting
principles generally accepted in Hong Kong and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

They have been prepared under the historical cost convention. These
financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars ("HKS$") and all
values are rounded to the nearest thousand (“HKS$'000") except when
otherwise indicated.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements
of the Company and its subsidiaries for the year ended 31 March 2021.
A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured entity), directly or
indirectly, controlled by the Company. Control is achieved when the
Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement
with the investee and has the ability to affect those returns through its
power over the investee (i.e, existing rights that give the Group the
current ability to direct the relevant activities of the investee).

When the Company has, directly or indirectly, less than a majority of the
voting or similar rights of an investee, the Group considers all relevant
facts and circumstances in assessing whether it has power over an
investee, including:

(@)  the contractual arrangement with the other vote holders of the
investee;

(b)  rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and

(c)  the Group's voting rights and potential voting rights.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

Basis of consolidation (continued)

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for the same
reporting period as the Company, using consistent accounting policies.
The results of subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which the
Group obtains control, and continue to be consolidated until the date
that such control ceases.

All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash
flows relating to transactions between members of the Group are
eliminated in full on consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and
circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or more of the
three elements of control described above.
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2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES

The Group has adopted the Conceptual Framework for Financial
Reporting 2018 and the following revised HKFRSs for the first time for the
current year's financial statements.

68

Amendments to HKFRS 3

Amendments to HKFRS 9,
HKAS 39 and HKFRS 7

Amendment to HKFRS 16

Amendments to HKAS 1
and HKAS 8

Definition of a Business

Interest Rate Benchmark Reform

Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions
(early adopted)
Definition of Material

The nature and the impact of the Conceptual Framework for Financial
Reporting 2018 and the revised HKFRSs are described below:

Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting 2018 (the
"Conceptual Framework”) sets out a comprehensive set of
concepts for financial reporting and standard setting, and
provides guidance for preparers of financial statements in
developing consistent accounting policies and assistance to all
parties to understand and interpret the standards. The
Conceptual Framework includes new chapters on measurement
and reporting financial performance, new guidance on the
derecognition of assets and liabilities, and updated definitions
and recognition criteria for assets and liabilities. It also clarifies the
roles of stewardship, prudence and measurement uncertainty in
financial reporting. The Conceptual Framework is not a standard,
and none of the concepts contained therein override the
concepts or requirements in any standard. The Conceptual
Framework did not have any significant impact on the financial
position and performance of the Group.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES (continued)

(b)

Amendments to HKFRS 3 clarify and provide additional guidance
on the definition of a business. The amendments clarify that for
an integrated set of activities and assets to be considered a
business, it must include, at a minimum, an input and a
substantive process that together significantly contribute to the
ability to create output. A business can exist without including all
of the inputs and processes needed to create outputs. The
amendments remove the assessment of whether market
participants are capable of acquiring the business and continue
to produce outputs. Instead, the focus is on whether acquired
inputs and acquired substantive processes together significantly
contribute to the ability to create outputs. The amendments have
also narrowed the definition of outputs to focus on goods or
services provided to customers, investment income or other
income from ordinary activities. Furthermore, the amendments
provide guidance to assess whether an acquired process is
substantive and introduce an optional fair value concentration
test to permit a simplified assessment of whether an acquired set
of activities and assets is not a business. The Group has applied
the amendments prospectively to transactions or other events
that occurred on or after 1 April 2020. The amendments did not
have any impact on the financial position and performance of the
Group.

Amendments to HKFRS 9, HKAS 39 and HKFRS 7 address issues
affecting financial reporting in the period before the replacement
of an existing interest rate benchmark with an alternative risk-free
rate ("RFR"). The amendments provide temporary reliefs which
enable hedge accounting to continue during the period of
uncertainty before the introduction of the alternative RFR. In
addition, the amendments require companies to provide
additional information to investors about their hedging
relationships which are directly affected by these uncertainties.
The amendments did not have any impact on the financial
position and performance of the Group as the Group does not
have any interest rate hedging relationships.
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2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES (continued)

70

(d)

Amendment to HKFRS 16 provides a practical expedient for
lessees to elect not to apply lease modification accounting for
rent concessions arising as a direct consequence of the
Coronavirus Disease 2019 (“COVID-19") pandemic. The practical
expedient applies only to rent concessions occurring as a direct
consequence of the pandemic and only if (i) the change in lease
payments results in revised consideration for the lease that is
substantially the same as, or less than, the consideration for the
lease immediately preceding the change; (ii) any reduction in
lease payments affects only payments originally due on or before
30 June 2021; and (iii) there is no substantive change to other
terms and conditions of the lease. The amendment is effective for
annual periods beginning on or after 1 June 2020 with earlier
application permitted and shall be applied retrospectively. The
amendments did not have any impact on the financial position
and performance of the Group as the Group does not have any
rent concessions.

Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKAS 8 provide a new definition of
material. The new definition states that information is material if
omitting, misstating or obscuring it could reasonably be expected
to influence decisions that the primary users of general purpose
financial statements make on the basis of those financial
statements. The amendments clarify that materiality will depend
on the nature or magnitude of information, or both. The
amendments did not have any significant impact on the financial
position and performance of the Group.
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2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

The Group has not applied the following new and revised HKFRSs, that
have been issued but are not yet effective, in these financial statements.

Amendments to HKFRS 3
Amendments to HKFRS 9,

HKAS 39, HKFRS 7,
HKFRS 4 and HKFRS 16

Amendments to HKFRS 10
and HKAS 28 (2011)

Amendments to HKFRS 16
HKFRS 17

Amendments to HKFRS 17
Amendments to HKAS 1
Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HKAS 8
Amendments to HKAS 12

Amendment to HKAS 16

Amendments to HKAS 37

Annual Improvements to
HKFRSs 2018-2020

Reference to the Conceptual Framework®

Interest Rate Benchmark Reform
— Phase 2'

Sale or Contribution of Assets between
an Investor and its Associate or Joint
Venture®

Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions
beyond 30 June 20217

Insurance Contracts*
Insurance Contracts*’

Classification of Liabilities as Current or
Non-current*©

Disclosure of Accounting Policies*

Definition of Accounting Estimates*

Deferred Tax related to Assets and
Liabilities arising from a Single
Transaction*

Property, Plant and Equipment: Proceeds
before Intended Use?

Onerous Contracts — Cost of Fulfilling a
Contract®

Amendments to HKFRS 1, HKFRS 9,
llustrative Examples accompanying
HKFRS 16, and HKAS 413
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2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG

72

FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (continued)

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021

’ Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 April 2021

? Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022

4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023

° No mandatory effective date yet determined but available for adoption

6 As a consequence of the amendments to HKAS 1, Hong Kong Interpretation 5

Presentation of Financial Statements — Classification by the Borrower of a Term Loan
that Contains a Repayment on Demand Clause was revised in October 2020 to align
the corresponding wording with no change in conclusion

’ As a consequence of the amendments to HKFRS 17 issued in October 2020, HKFRS 4
was amended to extend the temporary exemption that permits insurers to apply
HKAS 39 rather than HKFRS 9 for annual periods beginning before 1 January 2023

The Group is still in the process of assessing the impact of the above
new and revised HKFRSs. Further information about those HKFRSs that
are currently expected to be applicable to the Group is described
below.

Amendments to HKFRS 3 are intended to replace a reference to the
previous Framework for the Preparation and Presentation of Financial
Statements with a reference to the Conceptual Framework for Financial
Reporting issued in June 2018 without significantly changing its
requirements. The amendments also add to HKFRS 3 an exception to its
recognition principle for an entity to refer to the Conceptual Framework
to determine what constitutes an asset or a liability. The exception
specifies that, for liabilities and contingent liabilities that would be
within the scope of HKAS 37 or HK(IFRIC)-Int 21 if they were incurred
separately rather than assumed in a business combination, an entity
applying HKFRS 3 should refer to HKAS 37 or HK(IFRIC)-Int 21
respectively instead of the Conceptual Framework. Furthermore, the
amendments clarify that contingent assets do not qualify for
recognition at the acquisition date. The Group expects to adopt the
amendments prospectively from 1 April 2022. Since the amendments
apply prospectively to business combinations for which the acquisition
date is on or after the date of first application, the Group will not be
affected by these amendments on the date of transition.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG

FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (continued)

Amendments to HKFRS 9, HKAS 39, HKFRS 7, HKFRS 4 and HKFRS 16
address issues not dealt with in the previous amendments which affect
financial reporting when an existing interest rate benchmark is replaced
with an alternative RFR. The Phase 2 amendments provide a practical
expedient to allow the effective interest rate to be updated without
adjusting the carrying amount when accounting for changes in the
basis for determining the contractual cash flows of financial assets and
liabilities, if the change is a direct consequence of the interest rate
benchmark reform and the new basis for determining the contractual
cash flows is economically equivalent to the previous basis immediately
preceding the change. In addition, the amendments permit changes
required by the interest rate benchmark reform to be made to hedge
designations and hedge documentation without the hedging
relationship being discontinued. Any gains or losses that could arise on
transition are dealt with through the normal requirements of HKFRS 9 to
measure and recognise hedge ineffectiveness. The amendments also
provide a temporary relief to entities from having to meet the separately
identifiable requirement when an RFR is designated as a risk
component. The relief allows an entity, upon designation of the hedge,
to assume that the separately identifiable requirement is met, provided
the entity reasonably expects the RFR risk component to become
separately identifiable within the next 24 months. Furthermore, the
amendments require an entity to disclose additional information to
enable users of financial statements to understand the effect of interest
rate benchmark reform on an entity’s financial instruments and risk
management strategy. The amendments are effective for annual
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021 and shall be applied
retrospectively, but entities are not required to restate the comparative
information.

Amendments to HKAS 1 clarify the requirements for classifying liabilities
as current or non-current. The amendments specify that if an entity’s
right to defer settlement of a liability is subject to the entity complying
with specified conditions, the entity has a right to defer settlement of
the liability at the end of the reporting period if it complies with those
conditions at that date. Classification of a liability is unaffected by the
likelihood that the entity will exercise its right to defer settlement of the
liability. The amendments also clarify the situations that are considered
a settlement of a liability. The amendments are effective for annual
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023 and shall be applied
retrospectively. Earlier application is permitted. The amendments are
not expected to have any significant impact on the Group’s financial
statements.
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2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG

74

FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (continued)

Amendments to HKAS 12 narrow the scope of the recognition
exemption in paragraphs 15 and 24 of HKAS 12 (recognition exemption)
so that it no longer applies to transactions that, on initial recognition,
give rise to equal taxable and deductible temporary differences. The
amendments are effective for annual report periods beginning on or
after 1 January 2023, with early application permitted. The amendments
are not expected to have any significant impact on the Group's financial
statements.

Amendments to HKAS 16 prohibit an entity from deducting from the
cost of an item of property, plant and equipment any proceeds from
selling items produced while bringing that asset to the location and
condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner
intended by management. Instead, an entity recognises the proceeds
from selling any such items, and the cost of those items, in profit or loss.
The amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or after
1 January 2022 and shall be applied retrospectively only to items of
property, plant and equipment made available for use on or after the
beginning of the earliest period presented in the financial statements in
which the entity first applies the amendments. Earlier application is
permitted. The amendments are not expected to have any significant
impact on the Group's financial statements.

Amendments to HKAS 37 clarify that for the purpose of assessing
whether a contract is onerous under HKAS 37, the cost of fulfilling the
contract comprises the costs that relate directly to the contract. Costs
that relate directly to a contract include both the incremental costs of
fulfilling that contract (e.g. direct labour and materials) and an allocation
of other costs that relate directly to fulfilling that contract (e.g. an
allocation of the depreciation charge for an item of property, plant and
equipment used in fulfilling the contract as well as contract
management and supervision costs). General and administrative costs
do not relate directly to a contract and are excluded unless they are
explicitly chargeable to the counterparty under the contract. The
amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2022 and shall be applied to contracts for which an entity has
not yet fulfilled all its obligations at the beginning of the annual
reporting period in which it first applies the amendments. Earlier
application is permitted. Any cumulative effect of initially applying the
amendments shall be recognised as an adjustment to the opening
equity at the date of initial application without restating the
comparative information. The amendments are not expected to have
any significant impact on the Group's financial statements.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (continued)

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2018-2020 sets out amendments to
HKFRS 1, HKFRS 9, lllustrative Examples accompanying HKFRS 16, and
HKAS 41. Details of the amendments that are expected to be applicable
to the Group are as follows:

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments: clarifies the fees that an entity
includes when assessing whether the terms of a new or modified
financial liability are substantially different from the terms of the
original financial liability. These fees include only those paid or
received between the borrower and the lender, including fees
paid or received by either the borrower or lender on the other’s
behalf. An entity applies the amendment to financial liabilities
that are modified or exchanged on or after the beginning of the
annual reporting period in which the entity first applies the
amendment. The amendment is effective for annual periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2022. Earlier application is
permitted. The amendment is not expected to have a significant
impact on the Group's financial statements.

HKFRS 16 Leases: removes the illustration of payments from the
lessor relating to leasehold improvements in lllustrative Example
13 accompanying HKFRS 16. This removes potential confusion
regarding the treatment of lease incentives when applying HKFRS
16.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
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POLICIES

Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual impairment
testing for an asset is required (other than contract assets, deferred tax
asset and financial assets), the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated.
An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of the asset’s or cash-
generating unit’s value in use and its fair value less costs of disposal, and
is determined for an individual asset, unless the asset does not generate
cash inflows that are largely independent of those from other assets or
groups of assets, in which case the recoverable amount is determined
for the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying amount of an asset
exceeds its recoverable amount. In assessing value in use, the estimated
future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax
discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value
of money and the risks specific to the asset. An impairment loss is
charged to profit or loss in the period in which it arises in those expense
categories consistent with the function of the impaired asset.

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting period as to
whether there is an indication that previously recognised impairment
losses may no longer exist or may have decreased. If such an indication
exists, the recoverable amount is estimated. A previously recognised
impairment loss of an asset is reversed only if there has been a change
in the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount of that
asset, but not to an amount higher than the carrying amount that
would have been determined (net of any depreciation) had no
impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior years. A reversal
of such an impairment loss is credited to profit or loss in the period in
which it arises.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Related parties
A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(@)  the party is a person or a close member of that person'’s family
and that person

U]

(if)

(iff)

or

has control or joint control over the Group;

has significant influence over the Group; or

is a member of the key management personnel of the
Group or of a parent of the Group;

(b)  the party is an entity where any of the following conditions
applies:

U]

(if)

(iff)

(iv)

(Vi)

(vii)

(viii)

the entity and the Group are members of the same group;

one entity is an associate or joint venture of the other
entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or fellow subsidiary of the
other entity);

the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the same
third party;

one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other
entity is an associate of the third entity;

the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit
of employees of either the Group or an entity related to the
Group;

the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person
identified in (a);

a person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence over
the entity or is a member of the key management
personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity); and

the entity, or any member of a group of which it is a part,
provides key management personnel services to the Group
or to the parent of the Group.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

78

POLICIES (continued)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation and any impairment losses. The cost of an item of property,
plant and equipment comprises its purchase price and any directly
attributable costs of bringing the asset to its working condition and
location for its intended use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and equipment have
been put into operation, such as repairs and maintenance, is normally
charged to profit or loss in the period in which it is incurred. In situations
where the recognition criteria are satisfied, the expenditure for a major
inspection is capitalised in the carrying amount of the asset as a
replacement. Where significant parts of property, plant and equipment
are required to be replaced at intervals, the Group recognises such parts
as individual assets with specific useful lives and depreciates them
accordingly.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write off the cost
of each item of property, plant and equipment to its residual value over
its estimated useful life. The principal annual rates used for this purpose
are as follows:

Leasehold improvements Over the lease terms
Office equipment 20%
Motor vehicles 20%

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different
useful lives, the cost of that item is allocated on a reasonable basis
among the parts and each part is depreciated separately. Residual
values, useful lives and the depreciation method are reviewed, and
adjusted if appropriate, at least at each of the financial year end.

An item of property, plant and equipment including any significant part
initially recognised is derecognised upon disposal or when no future
economic benefits are expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or
loss on disposal or retirement recognised in profit or loss in the year the
asset is derecognised is the difference between the net sales proceeds
and the carrying amount of the relevant asset.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Leases

The Group assesses at contract inception whether a contract is, or
contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract
conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of
time in exchange for consideration.

Group as a lessee

The Group applies a single recognition and measurement approach for
all leases, except for short-term leases and leases of low-value assets.
The Group recognises lease liabilities to make lease payments and right-
of-use assets representing the right to use the underlying assets.

(a)  Right-of-use assets

Right-of-use assets are recognised at the commencement date of
the lease (that is the date the underlying asset is available for use).
Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated
depreciation and any impairment losses, and adjusted for any
remeasurement of lease liabilities. The cost of right-of-use assets
includes the amount of lease liabilities recognised, initial direct
costs incurred, and lease payments made at or before the
commencement date less any lease incentives received. Right-of-
use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the lease
terms.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Leases (continued)
Group as a lessee (continued)

80

(®)

@]

Lease liabilities

Lease liabilities are recognised at the commencement date of the
lease at the present value of lease payments to be made over the
lease term. The lease payments include fixed payments (including
in-substance fixed payments) less any lease incentives receivable,
variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate, and
amounts expected to be paid under residual value guarantees.
The lease payments also include the exercise price of a purchase
option reasonably certain to be exercised by the Group and
payments of penalties for termination of a lease, if the lease term
reflects the Group exercising the option to terminate the lease.
The variable lease payments that do not depend on an index or a
rate are recognised as an expense in the period in which the
event or condition that triggers the payment occurs.

In calculating the present value of lease payments, the Group
uses its incremental borrowing rate at the lease commencement
date because the interest rate implicit in the lease is not readily
determinable. After the commencement date, the amount of
lease liabilities is increased to reflect the accretion of interest and
reduced for the lease payments made. In addition, the carrying
amount of lease liabilities is remeasured if there is a modification,
a change in the lease term, a change in lease payments (e.g., a
change to future lease payments resulting from a change in an
index or rate) or a change in assessment of an option to purchase
the underlying asset.

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption to
its short-term leases (that is those leases that have a lease term of
12 months or less from the commencement date and do not
contain a purchase option). It also applies the recognition
exemption for leases of low-value assets to leases of office
equipment that are considered to be of low value. Lease
payments on short-term leases and leases of low-value assets are
recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease
term.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Financial assets

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as subsequently
measured at amortised cost, fair value through other comprehensive
income, and fair value through profit or loss.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition depends on the
financial asset’s contractual cash flow characteristics and the Group's
business model for managing them. With the exception of trade
receivables that do not contain a significant financing component or for
which the Group has applied the practical expedient of not adjusting
the effect of a significant financing component, the Group initially
measures a financial asset at its fair value, plus in the case of a financial
asset not at fair value through profit or loss, transaction costs. Trade
receivables that do not contain a significant financing component or for
which the Group has applied the practical expedient are measured at
the transaction price determined under HKFRS 15 in accordance with
the policies set out for “Revenue recognition” below.

In order for a financial asset to be classified and measured at amortised
cost or fair value through other comprehensive income, it needs to give
rise to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest
("SPPI") on the principal amount outstanding. Financial assets with cash
flows that are not SPPI are classified and measured at fair value through
profit or loss, irrespective of the business model.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

82

POLICIES (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Initial recognition and measurement (continued)

The Group's business model for managing financial assets refers to how
it manages its financial assets in order to generate cash flows. The
business model determines whether cash flows will result from
collecting contractual cash flows, selling the financial assets, or both.
Financial assets classified and measured at amortised cost are held
within a business model with the objective to hold financial assets in
order to collect contractual cash flows, while financial assets classified
and measured at fair value through other comprehensive income are
held within a business model with the objective of both holding to
collect contractual cash flows and selling. Financial assets which are not
held within the aforementioned business models are classified and
measured at fair value through profit or loss.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on
the trade date, that is, the date that the Group commits to purchase or
sell the asset. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of
financial assets that require delivery of assets within the period generally
established by regulation or convention in the marketplace.

Subsequent measurement of financial assets at amortised cost
(debt instruments)

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured using the
effective interest method and are subject to impairment. Gains and
losses are recognised in profit or loss when the asset is derecognised,
modified or impaired.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or part
of a group of similar financial assets) is primarily derecognised (i.e.,
removed from the Group's consolidated statement of financial position)
when:

the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired; or

the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the
asset or has assumed an obligation to pay the received cash flows
in full without material delay to a third party under a “pass-
through” arrangement; and either (a) the Group has transferred
substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, or (b) the Group
has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and
rewards of the asset, but has transferred control of the asset.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from an
asset or has entered into a pass-through arrangement, it evaluates if,
and to what extent, it has retained the risk and rewards of ownership of
the asset. When it has neither transferred nor retained substantially all
the risks and rewards of the asset nor transferred control of the asset,
the Group continues to recognise the transferred asset to the extent of
the Group’s continuing involvement. In that case, the Group also
recognises an associated liability. The transferred asset and the
associated liability are measured on a basis that reflects the rights and
obligations that the Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over the
transferred asset is measured at the lower of the original carrying
amount of the asset and the maximum amount of consideration that
the Group could be required to repay.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
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POLICIES (continued)

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises an allowance for expected credit losses (“ECLs")
for all debt instruments not held at fair value through profit or loss. ECLs
are based on the difference between the contractual cash flows due in
accordance with the contract and all the cash flows that the Group
expects to receive, discounted at an approximation of the original
effective interest rate. The expected cash flows will include cash flows
from the sale of collateral held or other credit enhancements that are
integral to the contractual terms.

General approach

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures for which there
has not been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition,
ECLs are provided for credit losses that result from default events that
are possible within the next 12 months (a 12-month ECL). For those
credit exposures for which there has been a significant increase in credit
risk since initial recognition, a loss allowance is required for credit losses
expected over the remaining life of the exposure, irrespective of the
timing of the default (a lifetime ECL).

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether the credit risk on a
financial instrument has increased significantly since initial recognition.
When making the assessment, the Group compares the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the reporting date with the
risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument as at the date of
initial recognition and considers reasonable and supportable
information that is available without undue cost or effort, including
historical and forward-looking information.

The Group considers a financial asset in default when contractual
payments are 90 days past due. However, in certain cases, the Group
may also consider a financial asset to be in default when internal or
external information indicates that the Group is unlikely to receive the
outstanding contractual amounts in full before taking into account any
credit enhancements held by the Group. A financial asset is written off
when there is no reasonable expectation of recovering the contractual
cash flows.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

General approach (continued)

Financial assets at amortised cost are subject to impairment under the
general approach and they are classified within the following stages for
measurement of ECLs except for trade receivables and contract assets
which apply the simplified approach as detailed below.

Stage 1 Financial instruments for which credit risk has not
increased significantly since initial recognition and for
which the loss allowance is measured at an amount
equal to 12-month ECLs

Financial instruments for which credit risk has
increased significantly since initial recognition but
that are not credit-impaired financial assets and for

Stage 2

which the loss allowance is measured at an amount
equal to lifetime ECLs
Stage 3 Financial assets that are credit-impaired at the
reporting date (but that are not purchased or
originated credit-impaired) and for which the loss
allowance is measured at an amount equal to lifetime
ECLs

Simplified approach

For trade receivables and contract assets that do not contain a
significant financing component or when the Group applies the
practical expedient of not adjusting the effect of a significant financing
component, the Group applies the simplified approach in calculating
ECLs. Under the simplified approach, the Group does not track changes
in credit risk, but instead recognises a loss allowance based on lifetime
ECLs at each reporting date. The Group has established a provision
matrix that is based on its historical credit loss experience, adjusted for
forward-looking factors specific to the debtors and the economic
environment.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
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POLICIES (continued)

Financial liabilities

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as financial
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, loans and borrowings,
payables, or as derivatives designated as hedging instruments in an
effective hedge, as appropriate.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and in the case
of loans and borrowings and payables, net of directly attributable
transaction costs.

The Group's financial liabilities include trade and retention payables,
other payable and accruals and lease liabilities.

Subsequent measurement of loans and borrowings

After initial recognition, interest-bearing borrowings are subsequently
measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest rate method
unless the effect of discounting would be immaterial, in which case
they are stated at cost. Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss
when the liabilities are derecognised as well as through the effective
interest rate amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or
premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are an integral part of the
effective interest rate. The effective interest rate amortisation is included
in finance costs in profit or loss.

Derecognition of financial liabilities
A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the
liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same
lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of an existing
liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or modification is
treated as a derecognition of the original liability and a recognition of a
new liability, and the difference between the respective carrying
amounts is recognised in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount is
reported in the statement of financial position if there is a currently
enforceable legal right to offset the recognised amounts and there is an
intention to settle on a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the
liabilities simultaneously.

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and
cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and demand deposits, and
short term highly liquid investments that are readily convertible into
known amounts of cash, are subject to an insignificant risk of changes
in value, and have a short maturity of generally within three months
when acquired, less bank overdrafts which are repayable on demand
and form an integral part of the Group's cash management.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of financial position,
cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and at banks,
including term deposits, which are not restricted as to use.

Provisions

A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal or
constructive) has arisen as a result of a past event and it is probable that
a future outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation,
provided that a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the
obligation.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount recognised for a
provision is the present value at the end of the reporting period of the
future expenditures expected to be required to settle the obligation.
The increase in the discounted present value amount arising from the
passage of time is included in profit or loss.

The Group provides for rectification works in relation to the provision of
construction services for general repairs of defects occurring during the
defect liability period. Provision for rectification works is recognised
based on past experience of the level of work carried out for
rectification, discounted to its present value as appropriate.
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POLICIES (continued)

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax relating to
items recognised outside profit or loss is recognised outside profit or
loss, either in other comprehensive income or directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount expected
to be recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities, based on tax
rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by
the end of the reporting period, taking into consideration
interpretations and practices prevailing in the countries/jurisdictions in
which the Group operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all temporary
differences at the end of the reporting period between the tax bases of
assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting
purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary
differences, except:

when the deferred tax liability arises from the initial recognition of
goodwill or an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a
business combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects
neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

in respect of taxable temporary differences associated with
investments in subsidiaries, when the timing of the reversal of the
temporary differences can be controlled and it is probable that
the temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable
future.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Income tax (continued)

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary
differences, and the carryforward of unused tax credits and any unused
tax losses. Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is
probable that future taxable profit will be available against which the
deductible temporary differences, and the carryforward of unused tax
credits and unused tax losses can be utilised, except:

when the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible temporary
differences arises from the initial recognition of an asset or liability
in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the
time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor
taxable profit or loss; and

in respect of deductible temporary differences associated with
investments in subsidiaries, deferred tax assets are only
recognised to the extent that it is probable that the temporary
differences will reverse in the foreseeable future and future
taxable profit will be available against which the temporary
differences can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of
each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no longer
probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part
of the deferred tax asset to be utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets
are reassessed at the end of each reporting period and are recognised
to the extent that it has become probable that sufficient taxable profit
will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be
recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are
expected to apply to the period when the asset is realised or the liability
is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of each reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if and only if the
Group has a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets and
current tax liabilities and the deferred tax assets and deferred tax
liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority
on either the same taxable entity or different taxable entities which
intend either to settle current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis, or
to realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously, in each
future period in which significant amounts of deferred tax liabilities or
assets are expected to be settled or recovered.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
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POLICIES (continued)

Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value where there is
reasonable assurance that the grant will be received and all attaching
conditions will be complied with. When the grant relates to an expense
item, it is recognised as income on a systematic basis over the periods
that the costs, for which it is intended to compensate, are expensed.

Where the grant relates to an asset, the fair value is credited to a
deferred income account and is released to the statement of profit or
loss over the expected useful life of the relevant asset by equal annual
instalments or deducted from the carrying amount of the asset and
released to the statement of profit or loss by way of a reduced
depreciation charge.

Revenue recognition

Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised when control of
goods or services is transferred to the customers at an amount that
reflects the consideration to which the Group expects to be entitled in
exchange for those goods or services.

When the consideration in a contract includes a variable amount, the
amount of consideration is estimated to which the Group will be
entitled in exchange for transferring the goods or services to the
customer. The variable consideration is estimated at contract inception
and constrained until it is highly probable that a significant revenue
reversal in the amount of cumulative revenue recognised will not occur
when the associated uncertainty with the variable consideration is
subsequently resolved.

When the contract contains a financing component which provides the
customer with a significant benefit of financing the transfer of goods or
services to the customer for more than one year, revenue is measured
at the present value of the amount receivable, discounted using the
discount rate that would be reflected in a separate financing transaction
between the Group and the customer at contract inception. When the
contract contains a financing component which provides the Group
with a significant financial benefit for more than one year, revenue
recognised under the contract includes the interest expense accreted
on the contract liability under the effective interest method. For a
contract where the period between the payment by the customer and
the transfer of the promised goods or services is one year or less, the
transaction price is not adjusted for the effects of a significant financing
component, using the practical expedient in HKFRS 15
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Notes to the Financial Statements

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Revenue recognition (continued)

(a) Construction services
Revenue from the provision of construction services is recognised
over time, using an output method to measure progress towards
complete satisfaction of the service, because the Group's
performance creates or enhances an asset that the customer
controls as the asset is created or enhanced. The output method
recognises revenue by reference to completion of specific
transaction assessed on basis of the work certified up to the end
of the reporting period as a percentage of total contract value for
each contract.

(b) Trading of tools and equipment
Revenue from the trading of tools and equipment is recognised
at point in time when control of the asset is transferred to the
customers generally on delivery of the tools and equipment.

Other income

Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis using the effective
interest method by applying the rate that exactly discounts the
estimated future cash receipts over the expected life of the financial
instrument or a shorter period, when appropriate, to the net carrying
amount of the financial asset.

Contract assets

A contract asset is the right to consideration in exchange for goods or
services transferred to the customer. If the Group performs by
transferring goods or services to a customer before the customer pays
consideration or before payment is due, a contract asset is recognised
for the earned consideration that is conditional.

Contract liabilities

A contract liability is recognised when a payment is received or a
payment is due (whichever is earlier) from a customer before the Group
transfers the related goods or services. Contract liabilities are recognised
as revenue when the Group performs under the contract (i.e,, transfers
control of the related goods or services to the customer).
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
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POLICIES (continued)

Contract costs

Other than the costs which are capitalised as inventories, property, plant
and equipment and intangible assets, costs incurred to fulfil a contract
with a customer are capitalised as an asset if all of the following criteria
are met:

(@) The costs relate directly to a contract or to an anticipated contract
that the entity can specifically identify.

(b)  The costs generate or enhance resources of the entity that will be
used in satisfying (or in continuing to satisfy) performance
obligations in the future.

(c)  The costs are expected to be recovered.

The capitalised contract costs are amortised and charged to profit or
loss on a systematic basis that is consistent with the transfer to the
customer of the goods or services to which the asset relates. Other
contract costs are expensed as incurred.

Employee benefits

Pension scheme

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory Provident Fund
retirement benefit scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) under the Hong Kong
Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for all of its employees.
Contributions are made based on a percentage of the employees’ basic
salaries and are charged to profit or loss as they become payable in
accordance with the rules of the MPF Scheme. The assets of the MPF
Scheme are held separately from those of the Group in an
independently administered fund. The Group’s employer contributions
vest fully with the employees when contributed into the MPF Scheme.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or
production of qualifying assets, i.e., assets that necessarily take a
substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale, are
capitalised as part of the cost of those assets. The capitalisation of such
borrowing costs ceases when the assets are substantially ready for their
intended use or sale. Investment income earned on the temporary
investment of specific borrowings pending their expenditure on
qualifying assets is deducted from the borrowing costs capitalised. All
other borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which they are
incurred. Borrowing costs consist of interest and other costs that an
entity incurs in connection with the borrowing of funds.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Dividends
Final dividends are recognised as a liability when they are approved by
the shareholders in a general meeting.

Interim dividends are simultaneously proposed and declared, because
the Company’s memorandum and articles of association grant the
directors the authority to declare interim dividends. Consequently,
interim dividends are recognised immediately as a liability when they
are proposed and declared.

Foreign currencies

These financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars, which is
the Company’s functional currency. Each entity in the Group determines
its own functional currency and items included in the financial
statements of each entity are measured using that functional currency.
Foreign currency transactions recorded by the entities in the Group are
initially recorded using their respective functional currency rates
prevailing at the dates of the transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the functional
currency rates of exchange ruling at the end of the reporting period.
Differences arising on settlement or translation of monetary items are
recognised in profit or loss. Non-monetary items that are measured in
terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the
exchange rates at the dates of the initial transactions.

In determining the exchange rate on initial recognition of the related
asset, expense or income on the derecognition of a non-monetary asset
or non-monetary liability relating to an advance consideration, the date
of initial transaction is the date on which the Group initially recognises
the non-monetary asset or non-monetary liability arising from the
advance consideration. If there are multiple payments or receipts in
advance, the Group determines the transaction date for each payment
or receipt of the advance consideration.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group’s financial statements requires
management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that
affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities,
and their accompanying disclosures, and the disclosure of contingent
liabilities. Uncertainty about these assumptions and estimates could
result in outcomes that could require a material adjustment to the
carrying amounts of the assets or liabilities affected in the future.

Judgements

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies,
management has made the following judgements, apart from those
involving estimations, which have the most significant effect on the
amounts recognised in the financial statements:

Revenue from contracts with customers

The Group has the primary responsibility for fulfilment of the contract,
quality and warranty of the overall work and has discretion in selecting
subcontractors and determining the pricing for subcontractors. Thus,
the Group is acting as the principal and recognises revenue on a gross
basis. The determination of the progress of the construction service
involves judgements. The Group recognises revenue based on progress
confirmation from customers. The confirmation reflects the progress
towards complete satisfaction of the performance obligation, which is
measured based on direct measurements of the value of units delivered
or surveys of work performed. The customers will provide a final
statement when the whole project is completed and may have
adjustments on accumulated confirmation according to the actual
engineering quantity till the day of completion. In addition, when
determining the transaction price, the Group considers factors such as
whether there is any financing component. The Group considers
whether the payment schedule is commensurate with the Group's
performance and whether the delayed payment is for financing
purposes. The Group has, therefore, recognised revenue based on the
progress confirmation over the period during which the service is
rendered and transferred to customers.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (continued)

Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of
estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting period, that have a
significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts
of assets and liabilities within the next financial year, are described
below.

Provision for ECLs on trade receivables and contract assets

The Group uses a provision matrix to calculate ECLs for trade receivables
and contract assets. The provision rates are based on days past due for
groupings of various customer segments that have similar loss patterns.

The provision matrix is initially based on the Group's historical observed
default rates. The Group will calibrate the matrix to adjust the historical
credit loss experience with forward-looking information. For instance, if
forecast economic conditions (i.e., gross domestic product) are
expected to deteriorate over the next year which can lead to an
increased number of defaults in the construction sector, the historical
default rates are adjusted. At each reporting date, the historical
observed default rates are updated and changes in the forward-looking
estimates are analysed.

The assessment of the correlation among historical observed default
rates, forecast economic conditions and ECLs is a significant estimate.
The amount of ECLs is sensitive to changes in circumstances and
forecast economic conditions. The Group's historical credit loss
experience and forecast of economic conditions may also not be
representative of a customer’s actual default in the future. The
information about the ECLs on the Group's contract assets and trade
receivables is disclosed in notes 15 and 16, respectively, to the financial
statements.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (continued)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)

Leases — Estimating the incremental borrowing rate

The Group cannot readily determine the interest rate implicit in a lease,
and therefore, it uses an incremental borrowing rate (“IBR") to measure
lease liabilities. The IBR is the rate of interest that the Group would have
to pay to borrow over a similar term, and with a similar security, the
funds necessary to obtain an asset of a similar value to the right-of-use
asset in a similar economic environment. The IBR therefore reflects what
the Group “would have to pay”, which requires estimation when no
observable rates are available (such as for subsidiaries that do not enter
into financing transactions) or when it needs to be adjusted to reflect
the terms and conditions of the lease (for example, when leases are not
in the subsidiary’s functional currency). The Group estimates the IBR
using observable inputs (such as market interest rates) when available
and is required to make certain entity-specific estimates (such as the
subsidiary’s stand-alone credit rating).

Provision for rectification works

Significant estimates are involved in the determination of provisions
related to rectification works. Accordingly, management exercises
considerable judgement in determining whether there is a present
obligation as a result of a past event at the reporting date, whether it is
more likely than not that such warranty services and rectification works
will result in an outflow of resources and whether the amount of the
obligation can be reliably estimated with reference to the relevant
correspondence and contracts with customers. Management estimates
the cost for rectification works with regard to the Group's experience in
addressing such matters. As at 31 March 2021, the Group recognised
provisions related to warranty costs and rectification works amounting
to HK$7,119,000 (2020: HK$8,950,000) (note 22).
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Notes to the Financial Statements

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Group is principally engaged in the provision of aluminium works
related services and the trading of tools and equipment. Information
reported to the Group's chief operating decision maker for the purpose
of resource allocation and performance assessment is focused on the
operating results of the Group as a whole as the Group's resources are
integrated and no discrete operating segment financial information is
available. Accordingly, no further operating segment information is
presented.

Geographical information

(@) Revenue from external customers
All of the Group's revenues from external customers were
attributed to Hong Kong based on the location of the services
provided.

(b) Non-current assets
All of the Group's non-current assets were located in Hong Kong
based on the location of the assets.

Information about major customers
Revenue from external customers contributing to 10% or more of the
total revenue of the Group is as follows:

BEA
=P8

Customer A
Customer B

4.

RA %5 80 % P A

31 March2021 202143 A 31 H

AR E T B SR IR E IR
REETARRHE - RAREERERT
ERAEEEEEEARE REHEH
AR ER BT EE  RERAS
M EREERA - B
SRR AR - Ei - W — 5 25
EEDEER -

h 38 & R

(a) REIIBEF Y
AEEMARBIIBEF KT
RIBRGIBEFAEMBERBE SN
ﬁ °

(b) FRBEE
AEERAFRBDEERBEEM
EUEBHIRNES

FHETEFFNESR
FEZR SR B U et A8 BE AP A LE 10% 3K DA _EAYSI
EEP WS

2021 2020
2021 2020 4
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAT
207,705 41,356
110,423 141,921
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5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAIN 5. W - Hiti A R W=
An analysis of revenue is as follows: WEs DT T
2021 2020
20214 2020 4F
HK$’000 HKS'000
FET TFETT
Revenue from contracts with customers BREA&LWE 350,847 245,474
Revenue from contracts with customers EEE#HWKE
() Disaggregated revenue information (i) MKW EER
2021 2020
20214 2020 4F
HK$'000 HKS'000
FET TFETT
Types of goods and services EmkRigEn
Construction services of residential buildings (£ 1E FHY R LIRS 339,168 209,172
Construction services of non-residential EFEBFHRERS
buildings 11,256 36,302
Trading of tools and equipment BETARKE 423 -
Total revenue from contracts with customers & P& 49U 5 48 58 350,847 245,474
Timing of revenue recognition Wy 2 T R R
Services transferred over time B B ] 82 4% A9 IR TS 350,424 245,474
Goods transferred at a point in time REREEZNE m 423 -
Total revenue from contracts with customers & P& 45 & 58 350,847 245,474
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Notes to the Financial Statements

5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAIN (continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)

(i)

(ii)

Disaggregated revenue information (continued)

The following table shows the amount of revenue recognised in
the current reporting period that was included in the contract
liability at the beginning of the reporting period:

Revenue recognised that was included

in the contract liability at the beginning R W=
of the reporting period
Construction services RER

RA %5 80 % P A

31 March2021 202143 A 31 H

5. W& HWw AR WE &)
BESHWE(F)

(@

RIERIFAGHEEZ

Ao WEER (F)
TRETINBEHRVFAARNEE
ME RS BRERR NS SR

2021
2021 F

2020
2020 5
HK$'000
T 7T

HK$’000
FTET

= 1,247

Performance obligation
Information about the Group’s performance obligation is
summarised below:

Construction services

The performance obligation is satisfied over time as services are
rendered and payment is generally due within 30 days from the
date of issuance of the payment certificate. A certain percentage
of payment is retained by customers until the end of the
retention period as the Group's entitlement to the final payment
is conditional on the satisfaction of the service quality by the
customers over a certain period as stipulated in the contracts.

Trading of tools and equipment

The performance obligation is satisfied upon delivery of tools and
equipment and payment is generally due within 30 days upon
delivery.

(ii)

BHASE
FHEAEREANTEENER B
T

BER
BHORTEZERERSEMEHE
17 BFRE—RRN B N HEH
HEEF0RAZMZAN - EFERE
—EHPZNFEEREHER -
B 75 78 = ) W B A 448 < 35 2 RV BR
RRBEFEAMNRTEZ —BERR
ERHRBEERIME

BEETARR
BHEFETIAMRBRINEE
7 NFBEERMNE0RAEH
FEfS e
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5.

100

REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAIN (continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)

(ii)

Performance obligation (continued)
Unsatisfied performance obligations related to construction
contracts:

Amounts of transaction prices expected

Wz

Hi AR W #)

BEFEEHNWE#)

(ii)

TEHRIR T 51 65 ] T LAHE R

BHEEE)
BRZEARNZIRTERBEHRE

2021
20214

2020
2020
HK$'000
F&7T

HK$’000
FERT

to be recognised: X558
Within one year —FR 221,316 330,717
After one year —Fi 40,100 108,258
261,416 438,975

The amounts of contract sum allocated to the remaining
performance obligations which are expected to be recognised as
revenue after one year relate to construction services, of which
the performance obligations are to be satisfied within three years.
All the other amounts of contract sum allocated to the remaining
performance obligations are expected to be recognised as
revenue within one year. The amounts disclosed above do not
include variable consideration which is constrained.

An analysis of other income and gain is as follows:

PEEHTREROEME (RN —F
BERSWE) AN RERE
RIGHERE - EROEERR=FRK
BT PEEEHB TENEENMREA
Ha A BERMER —FAER
A EXHWENSETIERER
HIRE R HE -

HWRA RS T

2021 2020
20214 20204
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FET F&T

Other income and gain Hi A Rk Wz
Bank interest income HRITHEHA 1,228 969
Recovery of bad debts W B 522 R 830 -
Government subsidies” BATHEEE " 3,136 -
Government grants* TS i Bh = 296
5,194 1,265

Government subsidies were granted from the Employment Support Scheme under
the Anti-epidemic Fund of the Government of the Hong Kong Special Administrative
Region (the "HKSAR Government”). There were no unfulfilled conditions or
contingencies relating to the subsidies.

Government grants received from the HKSAR Government to support the

technology upgrades and the operation of the Group. There were no unfulfilled
conditions or contingencies relating to the grants.
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31 March2021 202143 A 31 H

FINANCE COSTS L= 59N
2021 2020
2021 2020 5
HK$'000 HKS$'000
FHT FHIT
Interest on lease liabilities HEBENE 107 13
Interest on bank borrowings IRITIEFNF & = 103
107 116

PROFIT BEFORE TAX

The Group's profit before tax is arrived at after charging/(crediting):

BR B AR A

AEBE BB RS MR (GEA) T3
BHEENE

(2020: HK$24,492,000), pension scheme contributions of HK$941,000 (2020:
HK$837,000) and net provision for rectification works of HK$1,789,000 (2020:
HK$3,065,000), respectively, are included in contract costs disclosed above.

Included in "Reversal of provision/(provision) for impairment loss allowances, net” in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.

2021 2020
20214 2020
HK$’000 HK$'000
THT FHIT
Contract costs BRI 329,466 184,554
Auditor's remuneration ZE AN & 1,746 1,598
Depreciation of property, W% - B REETE
plant and equipment 13 1,314 337
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEERE 14(a) 1,269 416
Lease payments not included in the Rt AHEEEANE
measurement of lease liabilities M ERRK 14(c) 235 143
Employee benefit expense (including EERAMAX (BIEEEME
directors’ remuneration (note 8))*: GETAE
Wages, salaries and bonuses I& - Hehkita 32,612 28,427
Pension scheme contributions RIKSEHEIH 1,026 943
33,638 29,370
Provision/(reversal of provision) for BHVEBERMERE,
impairment of contract assets, net* (BsBEREm) » P58 15 947 (280)
Provision/(reversal of provision) for B Z W B R AR,
impairment of trade receivables, net’ (BsBEREm) » P58 16 1,477 (152)
Net provision for rectification works* BT F R~ 22 1,789 3,065
* For the year ended 31 March 2021, wages, salaries and bonuses of HK$27,182,000 * HE22F3A3BLEFE TE - HFak

TE 4T %27,182,000 % 7T (2020 6F : 24,492,000 78
70)  RREEH BN 941,000 7T (2020 FF -
837,000 70 ) & Bk T2/ 8% 51,789,000 78
7T (2020 4F : 3,065,000 7C) Esf A LHLFFES
HIPEL A ©

’ stAGa R R EMEERER T DA
B E OB ] -
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8. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S 8. EERTHEARZHME
REMUNERATION

RIBBZPTES LR BERAED
£383(M@ -~ (b) QROE R AR (KE
EFNmBER)ROIE 2 FREER
TRARMeWENT

Directors’ and chief executive’s remuneration for the year, disclosed
pursuant to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock
Exchange, section 383(1)(a), (b), (c) and (f) of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance and Part 2 of the Companies (Disclosure of Information
about Benefits of Directors) Regulation, is as follows:

2021 2020

20214 2020 4F

HK$’000 HKS'000

FHxT FHIT

Fees e 360 75
Other emoluments: E b

Salaries and bonuses e KA 2,240 1,531

Pension scheme contributions IR ETEIEER 36 36

2,276 1,567

2,636 1,642

(a) Independent non-executive directors
The fees paid/payable to independent non-executive directors
during the year were as follows:

(a) BAFHITES

FREN BN TFBUFRNTES

LM :

2021 2020
2021 £ 2020
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FATT
Mr. Chow Chi Fai* B 5 A 120 25
Mr. Chan Hon Ki* BROZH e A > 120 25
Mr. Yu Chi Wing* FERE 120 25
360 75
* Mr. Chow Chi Fai, Mr. Chan Hon Ki and Mr. Yu Chi Wing were appointed as * BEESEE  FREHEAR TFEE L
independent non-executive directors of the Company on 12 December HER2019F 128 12BEETEAKRAT
2019. BUFAITES -

BERFRNELN TR IENTE
EREAFTEN (20204 « £) -

There were no other emoluments payable to the independent
non-executive directors during the year (2020: Nil).
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8. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S 8. EERTHEAIZHME @)
REMUNERATION (continued)
(b) Executive directors (b) BITEE
Salaries Pension
and scheme Total
bonuses contributions  remuneration
FER EBik£5tE 0]
He A H= s
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
THET FTERT FTEx FEx
2021 20214
Executive directors: HTES:
Mr. Chan Fai BRIE ST A - 1,120 18 1,138
Mr. Chen Yuet Wa PR L A - 1,120 18 1,138
- 2,240 36 2,276
2020 2020 F
Executive directors: WITES:
Mr. Chan Fai BRI AE - 789 18 807
Mr. Chen Yuet Wa BRMiES A - 742 18 760
- 1,531 36 1,567
During the year, no remuneration was paid or payable by the RER » AEEI BT e
Group to the directors as an inducement to join or upon joining NFESHNESIEAEREIMARE
the Group or as compensation for loss of office (2020: Nil). S INAREE R ER S e ARk
B (2020 - ) o
There was no arrangement under which a director or a chief RER BEEESHITRERNE
executive waived or agreed to waive any remuneration during s§ [A] B R E (T A B & 59 22 8E (2020
the year (2020: Nil). F M) o
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31'March 2021 202143 A31H

9.

104

FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES

The five highest paid employees during the year included 2 (2020: 1)
directors, details of whose remuneration are set out in note 8 above.
Details of the remuneration for the year of the remaining highest paid
employees who are neither a director nor chief executive of the
Company are as follows:

9. HfuBESHMNES

RERN DEARSFHNESRRE2E
(20205 1 1R)EF - EFMHBERN L
XHfsEe - Hthm = # B ER (L IFA
NEEFHITHAAE) RNFANFFIS
L

2021 2020

2021 2020 5

HK$'000 HKS'000

FHET T T

Salaries and bonuses e MIEAT 2,682 3,289
Pension scheme contributions BRIREFHEIHER 53 69
2,735 3,358

The number of non-director and non-chief executive highest paid
employees whose remuneration fell within the following band is as
follows:

FMNFUTHBEARIEES MIFTR
mENRSHFMEEARNT

2021 2020
2021 F 2020 4F

Nil to HK$ 1,000,000 =2 1,000,000 7T 2 4
HK$ 1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 77T 2 1,500,000 78 7T 1 -
3 4
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10. INCOME TAX

Notes to the Financial Statements

Hong Kong profits tax has been provided at the rate of 16.5% on the
estimated assessable profits arising in Hong Kong during the year,
except for one subsidiary of the Group which is a qualifying entity under
the two-tiered profits tax rates regime. The first HK$2,000,000 (2020:
HK$2,000,000) of assessable profits of this subsidiary are taxed at 8.25%
(2020: 8.25%) and the remaining assessable profits are taxed at 16.5%

(2020: 16.5%).

RA %5 80 % P A

31 March2021 202143 A 31 H

10. FT8%

RER - BENSHREEBELEMNIGTE
RER AR 165% AT RATIREME - A
EE—RMBARKRIN  ZABBFAEF
SHMAGNER - ZHWBRARHE
2,000,000 7T (2020 4F : 2,000,000/ 7T ) &
Bom A oz B R A8.25% (20204 ¢
825%) MEMBERMEFNZHESR
16.5% (2020 4F : 16.5%) °

2021 2020
2021 F 20204F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTER FAT

Current — Hong Kong BIHER — &
Charge for the year AEEZTH 1,061 8,142
Underprovision in prior years BEFERENE 1,467 5
Deferred (note 23) IERE (MI3E23) (170) 59
Total tax charge for the year REFRIALH 2,358 8,206

A reconciliation of the tax expense applicable to profit before tax at the
Hong Kong statutory tax rate to the tax charge at the Group’s effective

tax rate is as follows:

BB BT B R T E AR B AR FE A
MR ER SR A EEERBEGAED
MIRF X SRR T

2021 2020
20215 2020 F
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FATT
Profit before tax Rk A5 B S 1) 8,310 35,856
Tax at the statutory tax rate of 16.5% 1216.5% (2020 %F : 16.5%) B)EE
(2020: 16.5%) MERAERFIE 1,371 5916
Tax effect of the two-tiered profits TS T AR 4l D R A s 22
tax rates regime (165) (165)
Adjustments in respect of current tax 38 7 BA R BN EA R 18 ) 28
of previous periods 1,467 5
Income not subject to tax AR AV A (653) (125)
Expenses not deductible for tax A 358 2,605
Others Eh (20) (30)
Tax charge at the Group's effective BRAEENERHZRTEDN
tax rate HMIEHR X 2,358 8,206
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31 March 2021

11.

12.

106

202143 H31H

DIVIDENDS

The board of directors has resolved not to declare any dividend for the
year ended 31 March 2021 (2020: Nil).

EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO
ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE
COMPANY

The calculation of the basic earnings per share amount is based on the
profit for the year attributable to ordinary equity holders of the
Company of HK$5,952,000 (2020: HK$27,650,000), and the weighted
average number of ordinary shares of 1,000,000,000 (2020: 801,913,000)
in issue during the year.

The Group had no potentially dilutive ordinary shares in issue during
the years ended 31 March 2021 and 2020.
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31 March2021 202143 A 31 H

13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 13. ¥ - BERRZR®E

31 March 2021

At 31 March 2020 and

Leasehold
improvements
HEMREKE
HK$’000
THET

20213 A31H

7202063831 B

Office
equipment
WAERE

HK$’000
TR

Motor
vehicles
s
HK$'000
THERT

Total
Mt

HK$'000
TR

at 1 April 2020: 20204818 :
Cost BEN 138 1,372 724 2,234
Accumulated depreciation ZEHE (83) (882) (397) (1,362)
Net carrying amount ARIEH5E 55 490 327 872
At 1 April 2020, net of accumulated R2020F4R818 -
depreciation Nk EFTE 55 490 327 872
Additions NE 4,087 2,490 - 6,577
Depreciation provided during the year — FRETHEITE (749) (467) (98) (1,314)
At 31 March 2021, net of accumulated 720213 8318
depreciation MK RTITE 3,393 2,513 229 6,135
At 31 March 2021: 2021534318 ¢
Cost R 4,225 3,862 724 8,811
Accumulated depreciation ZEHTE (832) (1,349) (495) (2,676)
Net carrying amount ARIEH5E 3,393 2,513 229 6,135
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13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued) 13. ¥ - BERRXRE#®

Leasehold Office Motor
inmprovements equipment vehicles
MEMERE BRAERE _E +
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000
FAET FHET TET TET
31 March 2020 20203 A31H
At 1 April 2019: R2019F 4818 :
Cost B 138 1,260 724 2,122
Accumulated depreciation 2 E (56) (670) (299) (1,025)
Net carrying amount AREFHE 82 590 425 1,097

At 1 April 2019, net of accumulated R2019F4 /818 -

depreciation R EFTE 82 590 425 1,097
Additions NE - 12 - 12
Depreciation provided during the year ~ FEFEHEHT & 27) (212) (98) (337)
At 31 March 2020, net of R2020F3A318 -

accumulated depreciation R EFHTE 55 490 327 872
At 31 March 2020; R20206F3A318 :

Cost [B#N 138 1,372 724 2,234

Accumulated depreciation 2 E (83) (882) (397) (1,362)

Net carrying amount ARESEE 55 490 327 872

14. LEASES 14. HE
The Group as a lessee REBEEFZBA
The Group has lease contracts for car parks, office premises and office NEBEBISEL - ISP R A K&
equipment. The lease of office premises is negotiated for a term of 3 EREASY - NSRBI TEARIE
years (2020: 2 years). Car parks generally have lease terms of 12 months (20204 : 24F) - (ZFEBAE—K E12E
or less and office equipment is individually of low value. Generally, the AT » R AR EEREEERIE o —
Group is restricted from assigning and subleasing the leased assets M= - AEBT A [AANERE AN A LB
outside the Group. ENEHEESE -
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14. LEASES (continued) 14. HE %)
(a) Right-of-use assets — leased properties (a) FRHEEE—HEWE
The carrying amount of the Group’s right-of-use assets and the FAREEFEAREENRAEBER
movements during the year are as follows: HEIIT
2021 2020
20215 20204F
HK$'000 HKS$’ 000
FERT FATT
At beginning of the year F4) 742 221
Addition VN=Y 7,206 937
Modification &2 (3,603) -
Depreciation charge during the year FARTERS (1,269) (416)
At end of the year FXR 3,076 742
(b) Lease liabilities (b) HEEE
The carrying amount of lease liabilities and the movements FAHESENEREREFHNT -

during the year are as follows:

2021 2020
20215 2020
HK$'000 HKS’ 000
FET FAT
At beginning of the year F4) 747 236
New lease s 7,206 937
Accretion of interest recognised FAERIIGEFE
during the year 107 13
Payments during the year FRTR (1,363) (439)
Modification (B0 (3,447) -
At end of the year FR 3,250 747
Analysed into: BUATEIBETOW
Current portion mehEk s 1,530 468
Non-current portion FETRENER 1,720 279
3,250 747
The maturity analysis of lease liabilities is disclosed in note 31 to HEABENIBAB TR BRE
the financial statements. MI5E31 R IR -
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14. LEASES (continued) 14. & #®)
(c) The amounts recognised in profit or loss in relation () EHEEEBEITREZHERN
to leases are as follows: SEMT
2021 2020
2021 £ 2020
HK$'000 HKS'000
FET FHIT
Interest on lease liabilities HEaBENFE 107 13
Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets ~ {F FAEEEMNITER 1,269 416
Expense relating to short term leases HEEHEEEEMRT
(included in administrative expenses) (GEATTHRAR) 139 103
Expense relating to leases of HMEBEEEHERHBAD
low-value assets (included in A GTATTEAR)
administrative expenses) 96 40
Total amount recognised in profit or loss RIBR R B 1,611 572
(d) The total cash outflow for leases is disclosed in note 27(b) to the (d) HERERHBEETFEREMT
financial statements. 27(b) R EE o
15. CONTRACT ASSETS/(LIABILITY) 15. BNEE (88
2021 2020
2021 £ 2020
HK$'000 HKS'000
FET T
Contract assets BHEE
— Unbilled revenue — REZBWR 10,558 29,585
— Retention receivables — EWIRE & 34,711 23,863
45,269 53,448
Impairment B (353) 7)
44,916 53,441
Contract liability aHAaE 944 -
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15. CONTRACT ASSETS/(LIABILITY) (continued)

Movements in gross carrying amounts of contract assets:

RA %5 80 % P A

31 March2021 202143 A 31 H

BREE (BB #®)
AWAEETRES

2021 2020

2021 5§ 2020 4F

HK$’000 HKS'000

THET TFETT

At beginning of the year F7] 53,448 71,034
Additions in contract assets BHEEREN 32,087 40,761
Transfer to trade receivables EREE 5 REIGIE (39,665) (58,252)
Write-off of contract assets SRBEM (601) (95)
At end of the year FR 45,269 53,448

Unbilled revenue included in contract assets represents the Group'’s
right to receive consideration for work completed and not yet billed
because the rights are conditional upon the quality and quantity check
by the customers on the construction work completed by the Group
and the work is pending for the certification by the customers. The
contract assets are transferred to the trade receivables when the rights
become unconditional, which is typically at the time when the Group
obtains the certification of the completed construction work from the
customers.

Retention receivables included in contract assets represent the Group's
right to consideration for work performed but not yet collectible
because the rights are conditional on the satisfaction of the service
quality by the customers over a certain period as stipulated in the
contracts. The contract assets are transferred to the trade receivables
when the rights become unconditional, which is typically at the expiry
date of the period for the provision of assurance by the Group on the
service quality of the construction work performed by the Group.

The decreases in contract assets as at 31 March 2021 and 2020 were the
results of decrease in the provision of construction services near the
end of the year.

The Group'’s trading terms and credit policy with customers are
disclosed in note 16 to the financial statements.

AFARKBEZARAERBRUSEEAEHE
MEEKERAREREZ TIREIAKE
ZHEN - RARMERENESEPHAE
BT EZETIREREEERBERT
AEERARITRARFEPRA - KA
PR NGRS (ERFAEERTED
AR ZETRERBEPRARN) &4
BEQEBEEHEIFA -

FARHEEZRBRESEASEL
B ST M AR YW B 2 T2 WK B 2 #
M RAZARENAGEPREKRTE
M- EREAERBEZRTIMERT
AMEE o AR IR R S CR
FRAEEREMTEREETRE ZRE
EREHAEREZERAH) 60E
EBBEE SRR -

2021 FF K 202043 A 31 BAKWEER D
AR FRIEHMNELERE R -

AEERTZFNEZKRAREERERRE
TR ISR ERMIFE 16 <
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15. CONTRACT ASSETS/(LIABILITY) (continued)

The expected timing of recovery or settlement for contract assets is as
follows:

15. BHEE (8&)#)
AUEEMTES RS BB T -

2021 2020

20214 20204F

HK$’000 HKS$000

TH T T

Within one year —FR 16,300 35,449
After one year —F 1% 28,616 17,992
44,916 53,441

The movements in loss allowance for impairment of contract assets are
as follows:

BRNEEREBRREEEIT

2021 2020

20214 20204F

HK$’000 HKS'000

FHT F&T

At beginning of year F4) 7 382
Provision/(reversal of provision) BB EEEE,

for impairment losses, net (BfB#m) - F5E 7 947 (280)

Amount written off as uncollectible MiE R E LW E R SRR (601) (95)

At end of year FR 353 7

An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting date using a
provision matrix to measure expected credit losses. The provision rates
for the measurement of the expected credit losses of the contract assets
are based on those of the trade receivables as the contract assets and
the trade receivables are from the same customer bases. The provision
rates of contract assets are based on days past due of trade receivables
for groupings of various customer segments with similar loss patterns.
The calculation reflects the probability-weighted outcome, the time
value of money and reasonable and supportable information that is
available at the reporting date about past events, current conditions
and forecasts of future economic conditions.
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15. CONTRACT ASSETS/(LIABILITY) (continued) 15. EHEE (&)@
Set out below is the information about the credit risk exposure on the TXHEIERABREBERBFTENEAEEE
Group's contract assets using a provision matrix: HNEEMEERRKRER
2021 2020
2021 F 20204F
Expected credit loss rate TEHEEBEE 0.78% 0.01%
Gross carrying amount (HK$'000) FREAE(FAT) 45,269 53,448
Expected credit losses (HK$'000) TEEIEEBE(TET) 353 7
Movements in contract liability: SRaBE#EE
2021 2020
2021 F 20204
HK$’000 HKS$ 000
FET FH&TT
At beginning of the year F7) - 1,247
Receipt from a customer WE— & B P HFIE 944 -
Revenue recognised that was included in FUFAENEBEHT
the contract liability balance at BRI
beginning of the year = (1,247)
Atend of the year FR 944 -
The contract liability primarily related to the Group’s obligation to EHBEFTEAREERNEFEERY
transfer services to customer for which the Group had received WETEHR REAEEEKRDERLK
consideration from the customer. B
16. TRADE RECEIVABLES 16. €5 BWFIA
2021 2020
20214 20204
HK$’000 HKS' 000
FE T T
Trade receivables H 5 IR 62,092 6,832
Impairment VERED (1,480) (3)
60,612 6,829
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16. TRADE RECEIVABLES (continued) 16. EZEWFIE (&)

114

Trade receivables mainly represented receivables for contract works.
Management generally submits interim payment applications to
customers on a monthly basis containing a statement setting out
management’s estimation of the valuation of the works completed in
the preceding month. Upon receiving the interim payment application,
the quantity surveyors of the customer will verify such valuation of
works completed and issue an interim payment certificate within 30
days. Within 30 days after the issuance of the interim payment
certificate, the customer will make payment to the Group based on the
certified amount stipulated in such certificate, deducting any retention
money in accordance with the contract. Trade receivables are non-
interest-bearing.

An ageing analysis of the trade receivables as at the end of the reporting
period, based on the progress payment certificate date and net of loss
allowance, is as follows:

BHRBFETERA N TIZRUGR -
EEERESARE PRGNS
wOERTHEREES LAERRITREMN
HEEITHFTRRE o RS RIS 5
A& BP R TR EE #5730 K Wt
BEORTTRMNME  WBHDERNKE
E-HRHBRENREERIORA &
FRENRZEETRENZESRERAN
SEXHIR - WIRRA LB ARE
T o BHRUGKIALNFE

P& IRE BRI 2 SRR B
HBREEEGHEENE S ERITENERER
DT :

2021 2020
20214 2020 4

HK$’000 HK$'000

FER FAT

Within 30 days 30 KA 3,923 2,515
31 to 90 days 312 90K 54,067 2,697
91 to 120 days 91 E 120K 902 1617
Over 120 days i 120K 1,720 -
60,612 6,829

The movements in loss allowance for impairment of trade receivables

are as follows:

B 5 RWSIARRERE R EESINT

2021 2020

2021 2020

HK$'000 HKS' 000

FET T

At beginning of the year F7] 3 155
Provision/(reversal of provision) BEEE R, 7

for impairment losses, net (BERE) 58 1,477 (152)

At end of the year FR 1,480 3
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16. TRADE RECEIVABLES (continued)

An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting date using a
provision matrix to measure expected credit losses. The provision rates
are based on days past due for groupings of various customer segments
with similar loss patterns. The calculation reflects the probability-
weighted outcome, the time value of money and reasonable and
supportable information that is available at the reporting date about
past events, current conditions and forecasts of future economic
conditions. Generally, trade receivables are written off if past due for
more than 120 days and are not subject to enforcement activity.

Set out below is the information about the credit risk exposure on the
Group's trade receivables using a provision matrix:

As at 31 March 2021

Current

-

Expected credit loss rate HEHEEERX 0.78%
Gross carrying amount (HK$'000) EEEE(TEL 3,954
Expected credit loss (HK$'000) BHEEEEE(TAT) 31

RA %5 80 % P A

31 March2021 202143 A 31 H

16. EZEWFIE (&)

REREBHRABRBEBETRED
T AFFEEREERE - BEXRTER
EREUBEEANNSZERF 53487
RIEHI B U - 25T R R g4
R BEEREMARSEBHAUSHNEHRB
FBIE - FRTkR RoR RS E R TE R
AERAIEEAR - —RME - BHEYK
TE 4N 180 HA 1B 38 120 K K2 15 78 2 BR 74 5 i
TTEE BT LA S

TEREIERAREREAENAEEE

5 RUGAN EERBRE R :

A=

A2021%E3H31H

Past due
B
Less than 31to Over

30 days 90days 3 months Total

DH30X  31E90k RB3EA o
0.84% 11.96% 31.69% 2.38%
53,956 1,664 2,518 62,092
452 199 798 1,480

As at 31 March 2020

7202043 A31 H

Past due

Less than 31to Qver

Current 30 days 90 days 3 months

BE  PR0K 32X BEEAR
Expected credit loss rate BHEEBREX 001% 0.04% 0.12% - 0.04%
Gross carrying amount (HK$'000) RERE(TErT) 2,515 2,698 1619 - 6,332
Expected credit oss (HK$'000) BEEEEE(TAT) - 1 2 - 3
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17. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER 17. AARE - B REMEWRK
RECEIVABLES 15
2021 2020
20214 2020 4F
HK$'000 HKS'000
F#&T F&T
Prepayments TEfT IR 30,323 2,117
Deposits and other receivables Ze R H A YRR 1,333 7,047
31,656 9,164
Less: Portion classified as non-current assets B B AIEREEEMNID (461) (143)
Portion classified as current assets DEARBEENI D 31,195 9,021
The financial assets included in the above balances relate to deposits AL SRS B E E ST I Mg
and receivables for which there was no recent history of default and RO IR S K EWRIE A k8 B I8
past due amounts. B -
The Group has applied the general approach to provide for expected AEBECERA M ERTR R EME
credit losses for deposits and other receivables and considered past WRIEMTEHREEE BT IRBEH LT
events, current conditions and forecasts of future economic conditions BEBEEBRERZSEREEMF - E80
in calculating the expected credit loss rate. As at 31 March 2021 and A S RD AR 2R 457 R R B FEDRI o 582021 5
2020, the expected credit loss rate for deposits and other receivables K2020F3A318 e R EAMERK
was assessed to be minimal. EWEHREERBBERTHAMTRE -
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18. BALANCE WITH A DIRECTOR 18. ESHEH
The Group's balance with a director, disclosed pursuant to section RNEEIRECGEA R BED) 5 383(1)d) 1§
383(1)(d) of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 3 of the REABI(BBEEENZER)RAYES
Companies (Disclosure of Information about Benefits of Directors) HIWENESLEHRIOT

Regulation, is as follows:

Amount due from a director EW—EEEFTIE
Maximum Maximum
amount amount
outstanding As at outstanding As at
during 31 March during 31 March
2021 2021 2020 2020
20214 20204F
REED ®2021 5 RNEED 7 2020 FF
BetH 3A31H R E 3A31H
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HKS$'000
F#&T FET THIT T4
Mr. Chen Yuet Wa BRLEE 2 A4 - - 10,681 -
The amount due from a director was non-trade nature, unsecured, Rl —HREEFIBNIEE FIHE - EIK
interest-free and repayable on demand. - REREEREE -
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19. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTSANDPLEDGED 19. B4 RESZBEEEUREE

DEPOSITS FX
2021 2020
20214 20204F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FExT TAT
Cash and bank balances Be RIRTTHESH 74,835 67,483
Time deposits TFHTER 39,231 119,050
114,066 186,533
Less: Time deposits pledged for B BRERTTRRE FT
banking facilities ER 2 EHER 26(a) (29,231) (4416)
Cash and cash equivalents B RIBESEEE 84,835 182,117
Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank RITHSBESARTERMNXRIZZE
deposit rates. Short term time deposits are made for varying periods of BRELH S o SHF AR S EIfR B — K &
between one day and three months depending on the immediate cash “EARTE  |BEAREEY RIS
requirements of the Group, and earn interest at the respective short MiE @ Wi AR %S 8 BA1E 30 R = BR AR
term time deposit rates. The bank balances and pledged deposits are B o SRITHEBR R EIMFERTIERNREER
deposited with creditworthy banks with no recent history of default. 0F R 3T BRI 45 40 A0 8k SR 1T o
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20. TRADE AND RETENTION PAYABLES

20. EZEAREARENREE

2021 2020

2021 5 20204F

HK$’000 HKS' 000

FTER FAT

Trade payables 5N FIR 11,311 6,637
Retention payable FERTRE & - 290
11,311 6,927

An ageing analysis of the trade and retention payables as at the end of

reporting period, based on the date of invoice and payment certificate,

is as follows:

R|BEMRRIFEZ AR

EHAEHZ

B S EMNZFENEMRE SRR
DT

2021 2020
20215 2020 4F

HK$’000 HK$'000

FERT FHBT

Within 30 days EWPND 5,900 5,664
31 to 90 days 31 REOKR 3,910 445
Over 90 days B o0 K 1,501 528
11,311 6,637

Retention payable ERRER - 290
11,311 6,927

At 31 March 2020, retention payable were expected to be settled within MR2020FE3A31H ' BENIRESEHR
one year. —FREER -

Trade and retention payables are non-interest-bearing. The payment
terms of trade payables are stipulated in the relevant contracts with
credit periods of 30 days in general.

ZHENFBRENRESTTE - &
SENFENNZERAEEEORTE
FEEBH-—KA30K-
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21. OTHER PAYABLE AND ACCRUALS

21. HWENRIERESTEH

2021 2020

2021 2020

HK$’000 HKS$'000

THET TFETT

Other payable H T RUR - 1,022
Accruals ezt & 1,889 4214
1,889 5,236

At 31 March 2020, other payable was non-interest-bearing and with a
credit period of 30 days.

MR2020F3H31H  EthERMKRE AT
B EEHA K-

22. PROVISIONS FOR RECTIFICATION WORKS 22, BUIEERE
2021 2020
2021 20204
HK$’000 HKS$ 000
TH T T
At beginning of the year F7] 8,950 7,778
Net provision during the year FREE TR 7 1,789 3,065
Amounts utilised during the year FERNAHETEE (3,620) (1,893)
At end of the year FR 7,119 8,950

120

The Group generally provides defect liability periods of one to two years
to its customers for its works performed, during which defective works
are rectified or replaced.

The amount of the provision is estimated based on the past experience

of the level of defective works and the estimation basis is reviewed on
an ongoing basis and revised where appropriate.
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23. DEFERRED TAX 23, IEEBIIE
The movements in deferred liability and asset during the year are as REXN  BELBBELEEEZESHNT :
follows:
Deferred tax liability ELEBEE

Depreciation allowances
in excess of related
depreciation

EBMERTENITERE

HK$’000

FTET

At 1 April 2019 20194 A 1H (125)

Deferred tax credited to profit or FANFFABSHIELETRIE

loss during the year (note 10) (FfF5E10) 30

At 31 March 2020 and at 1 April 2020 2020453 A 31 H % 202054 41 H (95)
Deferred tax charged to profit or FABEBERRARERIE

loss during the year (note 10) (fF5E10) (132)

At 31 March 2021 20213 A31H (227)

Deferred tax asset EERIESE

Impairment

AR

HK$’000

TET

At 1 April 2019 M2019F 418 89
Deferred tax charged to profit or FABBERRAGEERIE

loss during the year (note 10) (fF5E10) (89)

At 31 March 2020 and at 1 April 2020 M2020F3 A31B KX 2020F4 /818 -

Deferred tax credited to profit or FRFFABZHELTEIE
loss during the year (note 10) (FF&E10) 302
At 31 March 2021 202143 A31H 302
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24, SHARE CAPITAL 24, R
2021 2020
202145 20204F
HK$’000 HKS'000
Fi TiB
Authorised: SETE
10,000,000,000 (2020: 10,000,000,000) 10,000,000,000 f%
ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each (2020 € : 10,000,000,000 f%)
BR001 BT BB 100,000 100,000
Issued and fully paid: EEITRER
1,000,000,000 (2020: 1,000,000,000) 1,000,000,000 i%
ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each (20204 : 1,000,000,000 %)
FRR001 BTz B 10,000 10,000
A summary of movements in the Company’s authorised and issued RNARDEERE E{TIRANSEBHHLE 10
share capital is as follows: ™

Number of Nominal value

ordinary of ordinary
shares shares
ZEREE EZEREE
HK$’000
TET
Authorised: JETE
At 1 April 2019 M2019E4 18 38,000,000 380
Increase in authorised share capital SETE B ANIE AN @) 9,962,000,000 99,620
At 31 March 2020, 1 April 2020 and 202063 H318 »
31 March 2021 20204 1K
202193 A31H 10,000,000,000 100,000
Issued and fully paid: BETREE
At 1 April 2019 MR2019F4H1H 3 -
Capitalisation issue BT (b) 749,999,997 7,500
Issue of shares under initial public offering  1RiE & X AR #E
BT © 250,000,000 2,500
At 31 March 2020, 1 April 2020 and MR2020F3 318
31 March 2021 2020F4 R 1HR
20213 A31H 1,000,000,000 10,000
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24, SHARE CAPITAL (continued)

25.

Notes:

(@)

On 12 December 2019, the authorised share capital of the Company was increased
by HK$99,620,000 by the creation of 9,962,000,000 additional ordinary shares of
HK$0.01 each, ranking pari passu in all respects with the existing shares of the
Company.

Pursuant to the written resolution of the then sole shareholder of the Company
passed on 12 December 2019, 749,999,997 ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each were
allotted and issued, credited as fully paid at par, by way of capitalisation from the
share premium account to Mr. Chen Yuet Wa (the “Controlling Shareholder”). The
allotment and capitalisation issue were conditional upon the share premium
account being credited as a result of the issue of shares in connection with the

Company’s initial public offering as detailed in note (c) below.

In connection with the Company's initial public offering, 250,000,000 new ordinary
shares of HK$0.01 each were issued at a price of HK$0.5 per share on 16 January
2020 for a total cash consideration, before expenses, of approximately
HK$125,000,000. Dealing in the shares of the Company on the Stock Exchange
commenced on 17 January 2020.

RESERVES

(a)

(b)

Group

The amounts of the Group's reserves and the movements therein
for the current and prior years are presented in the consolidated
statement of changes in equity on page 62 of the financial
statements.

Merger reserve

The balances of the merger reserve as at 31 March 2021 and 2020
represent the aggregate of the paid-up share capital of the
subsidiaries now comprising the Group prior to the completion
of the reorganisation.
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24, A& (&)

GEE

(@)

©

M2019F 128128 » BERIBEREAROITE T
#9,962,000,000 iR RSN EiBAR © ANA REER
7R 38 199,620,000 70+ BN A BIIR B RS
EMBAEZRRSEMA

RIBA N BV E B — AR 2019F 128128
BBANEERAET BREECAETH
749,999,997 I% & i@ A BB AR (D m BRR & A5
A R BIT PR E S A ([FERRE DI
HEESRARE - B RERBEITHIER
DHRERFRERAAERNAFAEEGHOK
MEITMARR - FAEE - FEEHR T X
(Ol

BRARRERAFAEFEEMS - K202061H16
B - 8020017 7T EY 250,000,000 A% i L &AL IR
BR0SHATMERETT AR SRENRA
A ) #9125,000,00074 70 7220209 1 A 17 H
FIATER X FTE B A A RIMRD ©

25. %

(a)

(b)

5
AEERANFERBEFENRFHRE
THERETEIRUHREF 2R
MR B EDREERET -

Ot E

R2021F & 2020F3 A31B 24 0
{1 4 e EAR ST AX R IR B AR AR AN
SECHBRRCEHRA 2 B0
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26. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

(a)

At the end of the current and prior years, contingent liabilities not
provided for in the financial statements were as follows:

Guarantees given to a bank for: TIRITIRTE -
Surety bonds B X IRTE

26. AREE

(a)

RAFERBEFER - ARUB
BREBOIAABLT -

2021
20214

2020
2020 5
HKS$'000
F&TT

HK$'000
FERT

39,539 4,352

The surety bonds were secured by the pledge of time deposits of
the Group amounting to HK$29,231,000 as at 31 March 2021
(2020: HK$4,416,000).

In the ordinary course of the Group'’s construction business, the
Group has been subject to a number of claims due to personal
injuries suffered by employees of the Group or the Group's
subcontractors in accidents arising out of and in the course of
their employment. The directors of the Company are of the
opinion that such claims are well covered by insurance and
would not result in any material adverse impact on the financial
position or results and operations of the Group.

27. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT
OF CASH FLOWS

124

(a)

Major non-cash transactions

(i) During the year ended 31 March 2021, the Group had a
non-cash addition to right-of-use asset and lease liability of
HK$7,206,000 and HK$7,206,000, respectively, in respect of
a lease arrangement for office premises (2020: right-of-use
asset and lease liability of HK$937,000 and HK$937,000,
respectively).

(i) During the year ended 31 March 2021, the Group had a
non-cash lease modification to right-of-use asset and lease
liability of HK$3,603,000 and HK$3,447,000, respectively, in
respect of a lease arrangement for office premises (2020:
Nil).

(i) During the year ended 31 March 2020, pledged time
deposits of HK$14,634,000 with original maturity of more
than three months when acquired were released from the

maturity of surety bonds.
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(a)

JE %) IR & LA A S2 B 7R 2021 47 3 A 31
H & % 429,231,000 7T (2020 £F
4,416,000 78 7T ) B TE BRI 17 50 E 1B
# o

EAKERZEXEBNAERES -
MR AEE R AEB A EH B
BREEEMEMES b EENZI
SRHEIASBE  BUAKH
—HEXETRE -ARARESFR
RZERZBERREDRE AT
SUAEENPHAR LK E R E
BEREMEATHMEE -

RERERME

FEFRERS

() REZE2021%F3831H ItF
B AEEGRBABHHEER
Mo RS EREAEME
EBEMIEIRSIEINT,206,000
78 7T 527,206,000 7T (2020 4F
FHEAEREEAEBES A
937,000 76 7T % 937,000 7T) °

(i) HZE2021F3A31BILFE -
AEERBRABHEELHES
R FERAEEERTEEREE
i 3E3R © 0 E 18 823,603,000 %8

7T }.3,447,00078 7T (2020 £F -
7)o

HE2020F3831BILEE -
RUEER R EIAF H B = & A
K9 2 3K E BB 17 5X14,634,000
B ITE B B 4R B Y e AR
|§/§§ °
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27. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT

OF CASH FLOWS (continued)

(b) Changes in liabilities arising from financing activities (b)

Notes to the Financial Statements
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31 March2021 202143 A 31 H

27. " _\éIﬁﬁﬁiing(ég)

METDELENEEES

Lease
liabilities
HESE

HKS$'000
FAT

Interest-bearing
bank borrowings

aHEERITHER
HK$'000
TATT

At 1 April 2019 R 201944 A1H 5,864 236
Changes from financing cash flows RERSREEE (5,864) (426)
New lease EE - 937
At 31 March 2020 and 1 April 2020 MR2020F3 A31H K

202054 A1 H - 747
Changes from financing cash flows MERESRELE) - (1,256)
New lease MHEE - 7,206
Reassessment and revision of lease terms B ¥ a7 {H R IEF] R E HR - (3,447)
At 31 March 2021 7202143 A31 A - 3,250

28. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

28. EEEARS

(a) Compensation of key management personnel of the () TxEBXTEEEAESNEHFMN
Group
2021 2020
2021 & 2020 4
HK$'000 HKS' 000
THxT T
Salaries, bonuses and allowances e - B4 N ERE 2,240 1,531
Pension scheme contributions RIREFTEIME R 36 36
2,276 1,567

Remuneration for key management personnel of the Group,
including directors’ and the chief executive’s remuneration, is
disclosed in note 8 to the financial statements.
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28. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued) 28. AR B (&)

(b) In addition to the balances, arrangements and transactions (b) BTEZENBERERLNETERSE
detailed elsewhere in these financial statements and Report of PEITHINGES TEELRX S
the Directors, the Group had the following transaction with a AN RE B R F K E— R BT
related party during the year: TR ST :

2021 2020
2021 F 2020 4F

HK$’000 HK$'000
TR TATT

Lease payments paid to Ms. Wong Chun Siu, 3245 P12 R 2 B 48

the spouse of the Controlling Shareholder ~ E&HZ L THHER R 880 -
The transaction was conducted on terms and conditions mutually ZERGIIIRBEAEE RIEEETL
agreed between the Group and the related party. 77 B33 E MG R R MR R 1T o
(c)  During the year ended 31 March 2021, the transactions in respect () EHZ2021%3A31BIEFE - Eilib)
of item (b) above are also a continuing connected transaction as TENRX SN A TR E14AZ I8
defined under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules which are THRENFEFERS  #5E
exempted from reporting, annual review and independent TETHRBNEUASETER - F
shareholders’ approval under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. EEM MBI R o
29. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 29. RERESTHERMIA
The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial instruments REERRNEHEem TANKREEN
as at the end of the reporting period are as follows: T
Financial assets eRMEE
2021 2020
20214 20204
HK$’000 HKS'000
F#ET FET
Financial assets at amortised cost: RBERAGTENERMEE
Trade receivables H 5 e IR 60,612 6,829
Financial assets included in prepayments, STABNFIE - e R HAM
deposits and other receivables FEWRIBER 2 RbE E 1,333 7,047
Pledged deposits EREH 29,231 4416
Cash and cash equivalents RekBeFEEE 84,835 182,117

176,011 200,409
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29. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY

(continued)

Financial liabilities

RA %5 80 % P A

31 March2021 202143 A 31 H

29. REHETHNWEMIE#)

ERAE

2021 2020
2021 F 2020 4F

HK$'000 HK$'000

Financial liabilities at amortised cost:

FTAET TET

REHERATTENERAE

Trade and retention payables B EMFIEMEMMRES 11,311 6,927

Financial liabilities included in ST AE M BT A K FERT B M
other payable and accruals TREE 1,865 2,970
Lease liabilities HEaE 3,250 747
16,426 10,644

30. FAIRVALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Management has assessed that the fair values of cash and cash
equivalents, pledged deposits, trade receivables, the current portion of
financial assets included in prepayments, deposits and other
receivables, trade and retention payables, and financial liabilities
included in other payable and accruals approximate to their carrying
amounts largely due to the short term maturities of these instruments.

The fair values of the financial assets and liabilities are included at the
amount at which the instrument could be exchanged in a current
transaction between willing parties, other than in a forced or liquidation
sale.

The fair value of the non-current portion of financial assets included in
prepayments, deposits and other receivables has been calculated by
discounting the expected future cash flows using rates currently
available for instruments with similar terms, credit risk and remaining
maturities.

The Group did not have any financial assets and financial liabilities
measured at fair value as at 31 March 2021 and 2020.

30 R T A A FERATFERE

R

EEECHERERAELEMERB - G
T~ EHEMFOR - s ATRNFUR - 12
EREMERKRAZEMEEZ REED
o BHREMNFIREMENRES ARG A
HEMNRALEAEANSRABE
HEEmERE  T2ARNZFTANNE
HIRE|H -

TREEMABNATEABRESET (7
BHFREERIN R BT AN
TEAMK -

FPAENFOR - B MEMBRTIE
BMEEIFRBILD 2 A FETRIER - F
ERBREBTIFHAE 2 TAZBAE
RN EFBAARKRIRSRETH -

202149 K% 202053 A31H - AEBH
BN T EAEZCREERSRBE -
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31.

128

202143 431 H

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES

The Group's principal financial instruments comprise cash and cash
equivalents. The main purpose of these financial instruments is to
finance the Group's operations. The Group has various other financial
assets and liabilities such as trade receivables, financial assets included
in prepayments, deposits and other receivables, pledged deposits, trade
and retention payables, financial liabilities included in other payable and
accruals and lease liabilities which mainly arise directly from its
operations.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments are credit
risk and liquidity risk. The board of directors reviews and agrees the
policies for managing each of these risks and they are summarised
below.

Credit risk

The Group mainly transacts with recognised and creditworthy third
parties. Receivable balances are monitored on an ongoing basis and the
Group's exposure to bad debts is not significant.

Maximum exposure and year-end staging

The table below shows the credit quality and the maximum exposure
to credit risk based on the Group's credit policy, which is mainly based
on past due information unless other information is available without
undue cost or effort, and year-end staging classification as at 31 March.
The amounts presented are gross carrying amounts for financial assets.

Wah Wo Holdings Group Limited - ZEFZ A& £ B G R A 7]
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31. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 31. IKEREEEERBEE ®)
AND POLICIES (continued)

Credit risk (continued) FERE &)
Maximum exposure and year-end staging (continued) BREMMBORERFERR (&)
As at 31 March 2021 R2021$3A31H

12-month
ECLs Lifetime ECLs
1218 AT
FEESE 2HRBEERR

Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage3  approach Total
F—MER F-ER F=RR Bthi St
HK$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$’000
THT TR TER TR TER

Contract assets* ANEE~ = = = 45,269 45,269
Trade receivables* B 5 WG = = = 62,092 62,092
Financial assets included in BUNEGRES:RE: <37

prepayments, deposits and other EM KRN SR

receivables BE

— Normal** — IEE* 1,333 - - - 1,333
Pledged deposits ERER

— Not yet past due — WARBH 29,231 = = - 29,231
Cash and cash equivalents Be MRS EEER

— Not yet past due — HARE 84,835 - - - 84,835

115,399 =

107,361 222,760
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31. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 31. IKEREEEERBEE ®)
AND POLICIES (continued)

Credit risk (continued) BEERE (&)

Maximum exposure and year-end staging (continued) BAEBRBORFERTERE (&)

As at 31 March 2020 7202053 A31H

12-month
ECLs Lifetime ECLs
1218 A 8
FEER SHEREEEE
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
F-RBE FIRER F=EE Bitrk FEy
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FTAT FTAT TAT TAET FTAET
Contract assets* BHEE* - - - 53448 53,448
Trade receivables* B NI - - - 6,832 6,832
Financial assets included in SPAFERFIE - RER
prepayments, deposits and other HibEW B S R
receivables BE
— Normal** — g 7,047 - - - 7,047
Pledged deposits ERER |
— Not yet past due — AR B 4416 - - - 4416
Cash and cash equivalents RekReEHEER
— Not yet past due — HWAREH 182,117 - - - 182,117
193,580 - - 60,280 253,860

* For contract assets and trade receivables to which the Group applies the simplified * HRAKRERBSICRETENEHNEER
approach for impairment, information based on the provision matrix is disclosed in BHERKBREME  ERBEEROER D
notes 15 and 16 to the financial statements, respectively. BB 53R MI e 15 R 16 #2 5% -

o The credit quality of the financial assets included in prepayments, deposits and other o FPATERFIE e REMERIEN SR
receivables is considered to be “normal” when they are not past due and there is no BEENGFEEZHNASE  BEEERETRS
information indicating that the financial assets had a significant increase in credit risk LA E K= B RIS B )25 28 LA SR K I8 1 A1
since initial recognition. Otherwise, the credit quality of the financial assets is RERRIETE] BAeREENERER
considered to be “doubtful”. WRRE AR ©
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31. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES

AND POLICIES (continued)

Credit risk (continued)

Maximum exposure and year-end staging (continued)
Management monitors the creditworthiness and payment patterns of
each debtor closely and on an ongoing basis. The Group's trade
receivables from contract work represent interim billings or retentions
certified by the customers under terms as stipulated in the contracts. As
the Group's customers in respect of contract works primarily consist of
main contractors in the construction industry, property developers or
owners with strong financial backgrounds, management considers that
the risk of irrecoverable receivables from contract work is not significant.

Since the Group transacts only with recognised and creditworthy third
parties, there is no requirement for collateral. Concentrations of credit
risk of the trade receivables are managed by analysis by customer/
counterparty. At the end of the reporting period, the Group had certain
concentrations of credit risk as 81% (2020: 83%) and 100% (2020: 100%)
of the Group's trade receivables were due from the Group's largest
customer and the five largest customers, respectively.

Further quantitative data in respect of the Group’s exposure to credit
risk arising from trade receivables are disclosed in note 16 to the
financial statements.
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31. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (continued)

Liquidity risk

The Group's objective is to maintain a balance between continuity of
funding and flexibility through the use of bank and other borrowings.
The Group aims to maintain sufficient bank balances to meet its liquidity
requirements.

The maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities as at the end of
the reporting period, based on the contractual undiscounted payments,
is as follows:

31.

BiEEREEEERBEEE)

AEBEEBEBNBRITREMERE
HESHELREEM ZMTE - K&
M BIRRER M IRITHERARNE

AT &I A EE R HEBRRES KR
FRNRATO TR E BRI R -

2021
2021
Less than
On demand 1year 1to 5 years Total
EERER DPR—F —ZRE @ct
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
TER THET THER THER
Trade and retention payables B S REARIER

ERRES - 11,311 - 11,31

Financial liabilities included in other SAEMENTER
payable and accruals ETERNNSREAR - 1,865 - 1,865
Lease liabilities MEEE - 1,602 1,760 3,362
14,778 1,760 16,538
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31. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (continued)

Liquidity risk (continued)

31. iIEREEEEREE#®)

REBESEEE)

2020
20204
Less than
On demand 1 year 1105 years Total
EENEER PR—F —ERF FoE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET THET THET FET
Trade and retention payables B HENTIBER
ERRES - 6,927 - 6,927
Financial liabilities included in other STAE MR FIER
payable and accruals ETERNNERARE - 2970 - 2970
Lease liabilities HERE - 483 282 765
- 10380 282 10,662
Capital management BEARERE
The primary objectives of the Group’s capital management are to NREBEAEENEERE  2RENE

safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern and to
maintain healthy capital ratios in order to continue to provide returns
for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders.

The Group actively and regularly reviews and manages its capital
structure and strives to maintain a sound capital position, and makes
adjustments to the capital structure in light of changes in economic
conditions and the risk characteristics of the underlying assets. To
maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the
dividend payment to shareholders, return capital to shareholders or
issue new shares. No changes were made in the objectives, policies or
processes for managing capital during the years ended 31 March 2021
and 31 March 2020.

Capital of the Group comprises all components of shareholders’ equity.

BRI EKE RERFRROERL X -
MR R RS RER - L AEMBRE D
Ein KRR ©

REBERGE P MNEEEEARRE -
BOBBRENERNRN - L REELES
NEZLAEEENRRFEAMBARE

ATRE S FHERBRE RS « MRREE
BEEARLBEITHR - B E20219F3 A31
HE200F383BILFE TAEHR
BEREEMERE  BORET o

AEBRNERBIERRERMAA AKX
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32. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE 32. KA R T

COMPANY
Information about the statement of financial position of the Company AR BN IS BAARE B AR R &R
at the end of the reporting period is as follows: NS
2021 2020
20214 20204F
HK$'000 HKS'000
FHET T
NON-CURRENT ASSET FRBEE
Investments in subsidiaries KERKHE QA - -
CURRENT ASSETS REBEE
Prepayments TR FRIE 112 1
Due from a subsidiary RS — REIB B A B sk IE 75,653 78,090
Cash and cash equivalents Re kBEeSEIER 323 324
Total current assets MENEEBE 76,088 78,525
CURRENT LIABILITIES REBAE
Other payable and accruals E At eI I8 R ERTE A = 334
NET CURRENT ASSETS REEEFHE 76,088 78,191
Net assets BEFRE 76,088 78,191
EQUITY s
Issued capital BEITIRA 10,000 10,000
Reserves (note) & (M sE) 66,088 68,191
Total equity W EER 76,088 78,191
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32. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE 32. KATMBBEMRRE &)

COMPANY (continued)
Note: B 5T
A summary of the Company’s reserves is as follows: RARFEBZENT

Share
premium Accumulated
account losses Total
PR 47 72 1B AR RitEE st
HKS$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000

BT BT FHET

At 1 April 2019 R2019%4 818 - (7,497) (7,497)
Loss and total comprehensive loss for the year FAEBEBREAEBIERE - (15681) (15681)
Capitalisation issue BAR{CET (7,500) - (7,500)
Issue of shares under initial public offering BIEE XN AFRBERITRMD 122,500 - 122,500
Share issue expenses &1 81T 2 (23631) - (23,631)
At 31 March 2020 and 1 April 2020 M2020F3 A31 AR

20206F4 818 91,369 (23,178) 68,191
Loss and total comprehensive loss for the year FREEBNEEEEBARE - (2,103) (2,103)
At 31 March 2021 MR2021 3 A31H 91,369 (25,281) 66,088

33. APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 33. BiESERERAIHLE

The financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by the BB HmERN2021Fe A8EKES S
board of directors on 28 June 2021. R RETE -
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Five-Year Financial Summary

AFMBRE

A Summary of the results and assets, liabilities and equity of the Group forthe  #$FE RSB R EC TR EXM KRR TR
last five financial years, as extracted from the Prospectus and the published T REMBEE s AEBEEREE  BER
audited financial statements, is set out below. This summary does not form — #EZFRTEEF T AT o NI B W F K & =2 871
part of the audited financial statements. Bk —ab5 o

For the year ended 31 March
BE=A=t-HLFE

2021 2020 2019 2018 2017
2021 % 20205 20195 20184 20175
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THERT FAET FAET FAL FTAT
Revenue U3 350,847 245474 232957 216,261 153,779
Gross profit E7 21,381 60,920 55,887 40,829 37,575
Profit before tax BB R 8,310 35,856 41,030 32,455 31,572
Profit and total comprehensive 5 R FI| 2 2 I s 4818
income for the year 5,952 27,650 33,210 27174 26,398
Non-current assets FERBEE 9,974 1757 1318 1739 1217
Current assets REEE 256,235 255,824 137,756 101314 82,278
Total assets BEE 266,209 257,581 139,074 103,053 83,495
Current liabilities MENBE 22,793 21,690 32,540 21,582 28,800
Net current assets MEEEFE 233,442 234,134 105,216 79,732 53478
Total assets less current BEERRDEE
liabilities 243,416 235,891 106,534 81471 54,695
Net assets BEFE 241,469 235517 106,498 81,235 54,061
Equity attributable to owners  SEER AR EIHEE AR
of the Company m 241,469 235517 106,498 81,235 54,061
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